THE ROLE OF PEROXIREDOXINS AS MECHANOSENSITIVE ANTIOXIDANTS IN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

A Dissertation Presented to The Academic Faculty

Bу

Amy Leigh Mowbray

In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Wallace H. Coulter Department of Biomedical Engineering at the Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University

Georgia Institute of Technology

August 2008

THE ROLE OF PEROXIREDOXINS AS MECHANOSENSITIVE ANTIOXIDANTS IN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

Approved by:

Dr. Hanjoong Jo, Chair Department of Biomedical Engineering School of Medicine, Division of Cardiology *Georgia Institute of Technology Emory University*

Dr. Kathy K. Griendling School of Medicine, Division of Cardiology *Emory University*

Dr. W. Robert Taylor School of Medicine, Division of Cardiology *Emory University* Dr. Dean P. Jones School of Medicine, Division of Pulmonary, Allergy and Critical Care Medicine *Emory University*

Dr. Ajit Yoganathan Department of Biomedical Engineering *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Date Approved: April 22, 2008

Only the educated are free.

-Epictetus (55 AD - 135 AD), Discourses

To Mom and Dad for the opportunities and the motivation, To Betsy, Cady, and Audrey for the laughter, To Adam for the infinite friendship, support, and love

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without the involvement of many exceptional individuals. I would first like to acknowledge my thesis advisor, Dr. Hanjoong Jo, for the opportunity to work on this project, to present my findings at many scientific conferences, and to contribute my talents to several collaborative manuscripts and review articles. I also extend my greatest appreciation to my thesis committee members, Drs. Ajit P. Yoganathan, W. Robert Taylor, Kathy K. Griendling, and Dean P. Jones, for supporting this work and my future career with new ideas, a positive outlook, and generous references. I thank Drs. Sang Won Kang, Sue Goo Rhee, and Hyun Ae Woo at Ewha Womans University and Dr. Xilin Chen at AtheroGenics, Inc. for collaborative support and providing essential reagents. I am also grateful to Johnafel Crowe in the IBB Core Lab for assistance with confocal microscopy, as well as to Beth Bullock Spencer, Sally Gerrish, Shannon Sullivan, Leita Young, and Sandra Wilson in the Georgia Tech and Emory BME Offices for their limitless help with financial and administrative matters. Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge my funding source, the American Heart Association Pre-Doctoral Fellowship.

During the course of this project, I have been privileged to work with several talented students and scientists in the Jo Lab. First, I would like to recognize Dr. George Sorescu for providing my initial training in the laboratory. In addition, I thank my undergraduate research mentees, Michael Taylor and April Kooy, for their hard work and for giving me the opportunity to mentor and teach them. I am very appreciative to Maria Aleman and Deb Smith for their efficient running of the lab, as well as for their humor and honesty. Credit is also due to Dr. Manu Platt, Dr. Hannah Song, Casey Holliday, Dr.

Hyuk Sang Kwon, Dr. Doug Nam, Michelle Sykes, and Dr. Won Jong Rhee for technical aid and for facilitating a truly collegial lab environment. I am indebted to Dr. Seth Brodie, Dr. Kyung Hwa Chang, and Chih-Wen Ni for scientific help and advise above and beyond their obligations. And lastly, I am especially grateful to Randy Ankeny, Dr. Sarah Tressel, and Dr. Mamta Patel. Over the last five years, they have provided vast technical assistance, and more importantly, immeasurable moral support, sincerity, and true friendship to last a lifetime.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for encouraging me in this endeavor. I am so appreciative to my father and mother, Keith and Teresa Holbrook, for giving me the opportunity to achieve any goal I could conceive, for setting high standards, and for showing me the benefits of both failure and success. I also thank my sisters, Betsy, Cady, and Audrey, for the endless laughter and for keeping me humble and true to my roots. I am grateful to my mother- and father-in-law, Drs. Erla and John Mowbray, for their empathy, optimism, and experience, as well as to my extended family, John, Erin, and David Mowbray, for their friendship and encouragement. And last, but certainly not least, I would not have been able to complete this undertaking without the infinite support of my husband, Adam Mowbray. I thank him from the bottom of my heart for being my best friend, my advocate, my counselor, and my partner.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledg	gements	v
List of Figures List of Symbols and Abbreviations		іх
		xi
Summary		xv
Chapter 1:	Introduction	1
	Atherosclerosis	1
	Atherosclerosis and Hemodynamics	3
	Hemodynamic Forces in the Vasculature	4
	In Vitro Models of Shear Stress	5
	Shear Stress and Endothelial Cell Biology	7
	Reactive Oxygen Species	9
	ROS and Atherosclerosis	10
	Shear Stress and ROS Production	11
	Antioxidants and Laminar Shear Stress	12
	Peroxiredoxins (PRX)	14
	References	18
Chapter 2:	Specific Aims	29
	Project Significance	29
	Project Objective	30
	Overall Hypothesis	30
	Specific Aim 1	32
	Specific Aim 2	33
	Specific Aim 3	34

	References	35
Chapter 3:	Laminar Shear Stress Upregulates Peroxiredoxins (PRX) in Endothelial Cells: PRX 1 as a Mechanosensitive Antioxidant	36
	Summary	36
	Introduction	37
	Materials and Methods	39
	Results	42
	Discussion	49
	References	53
Chapter 4:	<i>Prdx1</i> Gene is Upregulated by Laminar Shear Stress in Part by Nrf2 Transcription Factor	58
	Summary	58
	Introduction	59
	Materials and Methods	61
	Results	65
	Discussion	75
	References	79
Chapter 5:	Discussion	83
	Summary and Conclusions	83
	Limitations	88
	Future Directions	90
	References	98
Appendix A:	Chapter 3 Supplementary Data	102
Appendix B:	Chapter 4 Supplementary Data	106
Vita		111

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease.	2
Figure 1.2	Blood flow acts on the arterial wall via three hemodynamic forces.	4
Figure 1.3	Schematic of the cone-and-plate shear stress system	6
Figure 1.4	Mechanoreceptors in endothelial cells exposed to shear stress	8
Figure 1.5	Peroxiredoxin family members reduce hydrogen peroxide in cells.	14
Figure 2.1	Overall Hypothesis	31
Figure 2.2	Experimental layout for Specific Aim 1	32
Figure 2.3	Experimental layout for Specific Aim 2	33
Figure 2.4	Experimental layout for Specific Aim 3	34
Figure 3.1	PRX 1 is upregulated by LS.	43
Figure 3.2	LS stimulated PRX 1 expression in BAEC.	44
Figure 3.3	PRX are located in various subcellular organelles in BAEC.	45
Figure 3.4	PRX 1 and PRX 5 siRNAs specifically reduce PRX 1 and PRX 5 protein expression, respectively.	47
Figure 3.5	PRX 1 knockdown increases H_2O_2 production in BAEC, while PRX 5 knockdown does not.	48
Figure 4.1	Prdx1 mRNA is upregulated by LS compared to OS in a time- dependent manner.	66
Figure 4.2	Prdx1 mRNA stability is not affected by shear stress.	67
Figure 4.3	Prdx1 promoter is functional in BAEC.	69
Figure 4.4	The promoter region of bovine Prdx1 gene contains a Nrf2 binding site.	70
Figure 4.5.	Nrf2 stimulated PRX 1 expression in static cultured cells.	71
Figure 4.6	Nrf2 siRNA inhibits Nrf2 mRNA and reduces expression of Prdx1 gene in static cultured cells.	73

Figure 4.7	Nrf2 knockdown reduces Prdx1 expression in response to LS.	74
Figure 5.1	Overall summary of project findings	87
Figure 5.2	The mouse aortic arch is a model for both LS- and OS-like flow.	92
Figure 5.3	PRX 1 expression is elevated in the LS-like GC of the aortic arch.	92
Figure 5.4	PECAM-1 verifies an intact endothelium in human coronary arteries.	95
Figure 5.5	PRX 1 expression did not change in the endothelium as disease progressed.	96
Figure 5.6	PRX 1 expression decreased in the intimal smooth muscle with increasing disease progression.	97
Figure A.1	PRX 2, 4, and 6 are present in conditioned media taken from BAEC.	104
Figure B.1	Nrf2 mRNA is upregulated by LS compared to OS.	109

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Ad-GFP	Green fluorescent protein adenovirus
Ad-wt hNrf2	Wild type human Nrf2 adenovirus
AP-1	Activator protein-1
ARE	Antioxidant response element
BAEC	Bovine aortic endothelial cells
BH ₄	Tetrahydrobiopterin
BMP4	Bone morphogenic protein 4
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
bZIP	Basic leucine zipper
CAT	Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase
Cdk	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
Cys	Cysteine
D	Vessel diameter
DETA-NO	Diethylenetriamine NONOate
∂ul∂r	Shear rate or velocity gradient
EC	Endothelial cells
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EpRE	Electrophile response element
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FTH	Ferritin heavy chains
GC	Greater curvature

GCLM	Glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GPX	Glutathione peroxidase
GSH	Glutathione
GSR	Glutathione reductase
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen peroxide
HAEC	Human aortic endothelial cells
HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
KRP	Krebs Ringer Phosphate
LC	Lesser curvature
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
L-NAME	NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
LOX-1	Lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1
LS	Laminar shear stress
μ	Viscosity
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-кВ
NO'	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NQO1	NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase-1

Nrf2	NF-E2-related factor 2
0 ₂ .	Superoxide
ONOO ⁻	Peroxynitrite
OS	Oscillatory shear stress
Ox LDL	Oxidized low density lipoprotein
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PECAM-1	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1
PRX	Peroxiredoxin(s)
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PTP	Protein tyrosine phosphatases
Q	Flow rate
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
siRNA	Small interference RNA
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
ST	Static
т	Shear stress
T _{wall}	Wall shear stress
TGF-ß	Transforming growth factor-β
Thr	Threonine
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
ТРА	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
TRX	Thioredoxin
TXNRD1	Thioredoxin reductase1

VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
wt	Wild type
XO	Xanthine oxidase

SUMMARY

In the United States alone, cardiovascular disease kills nearly one million people each year. The inflammatory disease atherosclerosis has been implicated in more than threequarters of these deaths. Despite the global nature of most risk factors, atherosclerosis has been identified as a focal disease occurring in defined regions of the vasculature. Plaques have been shown to localize at bifurcations or curves in the arterial tree where disturbed blood flow patterns and low, oscillatory shear stress (OS) exist. In contrast, straight arteries exposed to high velocity, unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS) remain plaque free and "atheroprotected." In order to address the hemodynamic components of atherosclerosis development, recent work has focused on the mechanosensitive endothelium to establish new pathological mechanisms.

Endothelial cells (EC) exposed to oscillatory shear stress experience oxidative stress as a signature of atherosclerosis. Conversely, unidirectional laminar shear stress reduces reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels and subsequent inflammatory responses. Previous work by our group found that fluid flow stimulates these important functional changes through gene and protein expression regulation. In the following study, we proposed that mechanosensitive antioxidants play a considerable role in laminar sheardependent redox balance and atheroprotection.

Recently, a new group of ubiquitous antioxidant proteins has been acknowledged in yeast, plant and animal cells species. The peroxiredoxins (PRX) are thiol specific-, non-selenium containing enzymes that use redox-active cysteines to reduce peroxides and eliminate peroxynitrite. However, they have yet to be investigated in response to shear

xν

stress. As such, the overall objective of this dissertation was to study the effects of atherogenic and atheroprotective fluid flow profiles on the mammalian antioxidants peroxiredoxins, and to identify mechanosensitive family members playing a role in redox regulation. By understanding how peroxiredoxins are regulated and what roles they play physiologically, we will have better insight into endothelial cell (EC) biology and redox-sensitive mechanisms of vascular diseases. The central hypothesis of this project was that unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS), compared to disturbed oscillatory shear stress (OS), promotes increased expression of peroxiredoxins (PRX) via transcriptional regulation, which in turn influences the balance of reactive oxygen species in endothelial cells. This hypothesis was tested according to three specific aims using cellular, molecular, and biochemical studies of bovine aortic endothelial cells.

We first explored the effects of shear stress on expression of mammalian peroxiredoxin family members. Using an *in vitro* model, the cone-and-plate viscometer, we applied atheroprotective, high, unidirectional laminar shear stress or atherogenic, low, oscillatory shear stress to endothelial cells in culture. Here, we were able to identify all six PRX family members in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC). Furthermore, through this work, we revealed for the first time that PRX are regulated by shear stress in endothelial cells. When compared to OS and static culture, exposure to chronic LS upregulated PRX 1 levels intracellularly. LS also increased expression of PRX 5 relative to static controls, but not OS. Consistent with reports in other cell types, PRX exhibited broad subcellular localization in BAEC, with distribution in the cytoplasm, Golgi, mitochondria, and intermediate filaments. However, these localization patterns did not appear to change in response to shear stress. Taken together, our results suggest that distribution of PRX in specific subcellular environments may provide protection against local ROS

xvi

production and facilitate ROS-mediated signal transduction. Simultaneously, widespread allocation of PRX might also be important for comprehensive management of the overall oxidative state of cells. Moreover, upregulation of PRX 1 by LS may act to reduce ROS levels in EC and prevent atherogenic oxidative stress.

To establish the functional importance of PRX 1 in shear stress-dependent redox balance, we next examined the role of PRX 1 in LS-mediated hydrogen peroxide regulation. Endothelial cells exposed to OS experience oxidative stress as a signature of atherosclerosis. Conversely, chronic LS reduces ROS levels. Here, we used Amplex Red assay as an independent method to measure ROS levels in BAEC. Consistent with previous reports, OS increased and LS decreased catalase-inhibitable hydrogen Subsequently, we investigated whether PRX 1 was responsible for the peroxide. decreased H₂O₂ levels in endothelial cells exposed to LS. Specific siRNAs were used to knockdown either PRX 1 or PRX 5 protein levels. Using isoform-specific PRX antibodies, we found that these siRNAs had no significant effect on other PRX, indicating that they exclusively targeted PRX 1 or 5, respectively, amongst all PRX family members. Depletion of PRX 1 using siRNA resulted in significantly higher ROS levels in BAEC exposed to LS, OS, and static conditions, while PRX 5 depletion did not. Altogether, these results indicate that chronic exposure to LS upregulates PRX 1 expression in order to keep ROS levels low in endothelial cells.

To identify the pathway by which atheroprotective laminar shear stress stimulates PRX 1 protein production, we undertook additional gene expression and siRNA depletion studies. Several reports have demonstrated that antioxidant genes are induced by laminar shear stress in endothelial cells. In line with this, we discovered that LS upregulates *Prdx1* gene in a time-dependent manner compared to OS or static culture.

xvii

However, this increase in expression was not due to shear stress-dependent stabilization of *Prdx1* mRNA. These findings lead us to believe that *Prdx1* was likely regulated at the transcriptional level. In addition, the antioxidant response element (ARE) has been shown to be conserved amongst several antioxidant genes, and studies showed it responds to chronic, steady laminar shear stress through its transcription factor Nrf2. Our analysis of the bovine *Prdx1* promoter revealed a Nrf2 binding site 160bp upstream of the gene. Furthermore, Nrf2 overexpression promoted basal PRX 1 protein production, while Nrf2 depletion reduced *Prdx1* mRNA following exposure to LS. Collectively, our work illustrates that laminar shear stress affects PRX 1 by inducing the *Prdx1* gene, in part via the transcription factor Nrf2.

In this dissertation, we have developed a comprehensive register of shear stressdependent peroxiredoxin behavior and discovered a novel mechanosensitive antioxidant that plays an important functional role in redox regulation of endothelial cell biology. This work illustrates how physiologically relevant fluid flow affects reactive oxygen species, through the unique expression of antioxidants, in particular Peroxiredoxin 1. Identifying factors that play an important role in shear stress-dependent oxidative stress could help provide localized therapies at the site of endothelial cell dysfunction. Our findings are relevant to the inflammatory disease atherosclerosis, a major cause of cardiovascular disease. By understanding how PRX1 is regulated and what role it plays in physiology, we can better understand vascular diseases and develop effective preventative therapeutic approaches.

xviii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) affects an estimated 80 million American adults (one in three) and has been the leading cause of mortality in the United States for more than a century. The inflammatory vessel disease atherosclerosis has been implicated in nearly three-quarters of these CVD deaths¹. In an effort to develop effective treatments for this pervasive pathology, research is now focused on the mechanisms of atherogenesis. Growing evidence indicates that overproduction of reactive oxygen species contributes significantly to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. This dissertation will address the protective and pathological effects of arterial hemodynamics with respect to reactive oxygen species regulation. In particular, we will investigate the how fluid flow mediates oxidative stress in endothelial cells with a concentration on antioxidant gene and protein expression.

Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is responsible for more than half of reported deaths in the industrialized world². It is an inflammatory disease of the large arteries and is characterized by the development of lipid-filled plaques that obstruct the vessel lumen. Lesion enlargement has been shown to progress over the lifetime of an individual, with plaque formation beginning decades before clinical manifestation³. The disease process begins as a protective physiological response-to-injury, whereby leukocytes and monocytes adhere to the endothelium as a result of insult to the vessel wall. These insults correspond to a number of behavioral and physiological risk factors including hypercholesterolemia,

smoking, hypertension, diabetes, genetic alterations, elevated homocysteine concentration, obesity, and infectious microorganisms^{4, 5}.



Figure 1.1 Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. Endothelium dysfunction (A) results in fatty streak formation (B), advanced plaque development (C), and rupture (D). Figure reprinted with permission⁴. Copyright © 1999 Massachusetts Medical Society.

Advanced atherosclerotic lesions result from a chronic inflammatory response and endothelial dysfunction due to continued and numerous insults (Figure 1.1). Early features in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis include endothelial cell expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and E-selectin, followed by cell surface attachment of circulating monocytes⁶⁻⁸. Upon adhesion, monocytes migrate through the endothelium, localize subendothelially, and differentiate into macrophages. These macrophages take up oxidized LDL (ox LDL),

accumulate lipid, and subsequently become foam cells^{2, 5}. In conjunction with T-cells and smooth muscle cells, these foam cells form a fatty streak that represents the earliest recognizable lesion². Foam cells and the endothelium secrete cytokines, including tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), that promote endothelial cell apoptosis and initiate migration and proliferation of smooth muscle cells into the sub-intimal layer^{5, 9}. A repetitive cycle of monocyte accumulation and smooth muscle cell proliferation results in an atherosclerotic plaque that occludes the vessel lumen severely and alters downstream blood flow⁴.

Following plaque formation, metalloproteases, collagenases and elastases can induce degradation in an effort to remodel the vessel wall and open the occluded lumen. However, this action causes the lesion to weaken and become susceptible to rupture⁵. Myocardial infarction and stroke occur as a result of plaque erosion and subsequent thrombosis at, or downstream of, the rupture site.

Atherosclerosis and Hemodynamics

Despite the global nature of most atherosclerotic risk factors, atherosclerosis has been identified as a focal disease occurring in defined regions of the vasculature. Plaques have been shown to localize at bifurcations or curves in the arterial tree. As such, vessels including the carotid bifurcation, coronary vessels, aortic arch, and abdominal aorta are particularly prone to atheroma formation. Studies by Caro et al. in 1969 and Zarins et al. in 1983 showed that these areas of the vasculature coincide with regions of disturbed, low velocity blood flow¹⁰⁻¹². In contrast, straight arteries exposed to high velocity, unidirectional laminar flow remain plaque free and "atheroprotected"^{11, 13}. This phenomenon suggests that blood flow, and the forces it imparts on vessels, directly influence cellular function and play a critical role in vascular wall physiology.

Hemodynamic Forces in the Vasculature

As the heart beats, pushing blood through the vascular system, pulsatile pressure and flow are generated and act on the vessels via three forces^{14, 15}. These hemodynamic stresses (forces per unit area) include compressive stress, circumferential stress, and shear stress (Figure 1.2). Compressive stress results from the hydrostatic pressure of blood acting normal to the vessel wall. Circumferential stress is caused by changes in vessel diameter due to the pulsatility of blood flow. And lastly, frictional wall shear stress acts tangentially as a result of blood flow over the vessel wall¹⁴. Although orders of magnitude smaller than blood pressure, this frictional stress has been identified as the critical force mediating flow-dependent atherogenesis or atheroprotection. Disturbed blood flow at vessel branches correlates to low, bidirectional shear stress, while unidirectional laminar flow results in high unidirectional shear stress^{10, 11, 15}.



*Figure 1.2 Blood flow acts on the arterial wall via three hemodynamic forces. Figure reprinted with permission*¹⁴. *Copyright © 1997 American Chemical Society and American Institute of Chemical Engineers.*

Fluid shear stress, τ , is defined as the force produced by a moving viscous fluid over a solid body constraining its motion¹⁶. In the large arteries where atherosclerosis occurs,

vessel diameter is much larger than individual cells, and blood can be considered a Newtonian fluid. Newtonian fluids are those that possess a linear relationship between stress and strain rate, and their flow is governed by the Navier-Stokes equations. As such, blood shear stress is proportional to fluid viscosity, μ , and the shear rate or velocity gradient, $\partial u/\partial r$, according to the following equation¹⁷:

$$\tau = \mu \frac{\partial u}{\partial r}$$

For the steady laminar flow in large vessels, wall shear stress, τ_{wall} , can be described by:

$$\tau_{wall} = \frac{32\,\mu Q}{\pi D^3}$$

where Q is the flow rate and D is the diameter of the vessel¹⁸.

At the cellular level, the effects of blood shear stress have been correlated to the behavior of the exposed endothelium. Comparison of en face tissue staining from atheroprone and atheroprotected regions of the mouse aorta shows distinct differences in endothelial cell morphology, as well as expression of factors such as NF κ B, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1¹⁹. In order to investigate these *in vivo* findings in a simplified setting, several *in vitro* systems have been developed that expose cultured cells to defined shear stresses²⁰.

In Vitro Models of Shear Stress

Devices such as the parallel plate flow chamber and cone-and-plate viscometer (shear apparatus) have allowed for controlled shear stress experiments on endothelial cells²⁰⁻²⁴. In the parallel plate system, cells are cultured on glass slides and positioned within a rectangular flow chamber. A roller pump is used to circulate medium through the chamber to provide uniform levels of shear stress. The dimensions of the chamber and

the pressure drop across it dictate the fluid flow rate and result in specific shear stress conditions¹⁷.



Figure 1.3 Schematic of the cone-and-plate shear stress system

In the cone-and-plate shear system, a Teflon cone is used to generate shear stress. The cone is placed in a circular culture dish containing adherent endothelial cells and medium. As illustrated in Figure 1.3, the angle of the cone is very small (<1⁰). Rotation of the cone forces the fluid between the cone and plate to flow azimuthally and produce a shear stress on the stationary endothelial cell monolayer¹⁶. The Navier-Stokes equations can be used to accurately calculate the magnitude and direction of this shear stress and to determine the limits to which this system can produce laminar arterial flow profiles¹⁶. When compared to the parallel plate system, the cone-and-plate shear apparatus exhibits several disadvantages and advantages. For example, the low volume of media used in the cone-and-plate viscometer may permit secreted growth factors and cytokines to accumulate over time and produce non-physiological effects on cultured cells. In addition, this system results in a gradient of shear stress, and cells at the center of the culture dish, near the cone apex, may experience lower shear stress

than those at the perimeter. Alternatively, the cone-and-plate viscometer can expose a greater number of cells to shear stress when compared to the parallel plate system using small glass coverslips. This is critical in RNA and protein analysis of cells. The system can also be used to simulate reversal of flow by rotating the cone back and forth. Although secondary flow can occur at high rotational speeds, this is generally negligible to achieve physiologically relevant shear stresses²⁵. As a result the cone-and-plate viscometer can expose cultured endothelial cells to both "atheroprone" oscillatory shear stress (OS) and "atheroprotective" unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS).

Shear Stress and Endothelial Cell Biology

In vitro studies utilizing the previously described flow models have established shear stress-dependent changes in endothelial cells similar to those observed *in vivo*. For examples, cells align and elongate in the direction of flow upon exposure to a threshold level of unidirectional laminar shear stress^{17, 26}. Conversely, when cultured in the presence of low and oscillatory shear stress or static conditions, endothelial cells exhibit a cobblestone morphology with random orientation and do not align²². This cellular process of identifying different shear stress forces and converting them to physiological responses is called mechanotransduction^{14, 27, 28}.

As shown in Figure 1.4, several membrane components have been established as "mechanoreceptors" of shear stress including the glycocalyx, integrins, platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1), vascular endothelial-cadherin, tyrosine kinase receptors, G proteins, primary cilium, and ion channels^{14, 27-30}. Located at the surface of endothelial cells, they are poised to directly sense and transduce force across the membrane to the interior of cells^{14, 27}. Mechanoreceptors can transmit their signals via the cytoskeleton through focal adhesions, cell-cell junctions, and the nuclear

membrane or via a biochemical cascade through the generation of second messengers and transcription factor activation^{27, 28}. In addition to previously described morphological changes, mechanotransduction of different shear stresses can also elicit other structural, metabolic, and gene regulatory modifications²⁸.



*Figure 1.4 Mechanoreceptors in endothelial cells exposed to shear stress Figure reprinted with permission*²⁷. *Copyright ©* 2008 *Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.*

In general, unidirectional laminar shear stress promotes an atheroprotective endothelial phenotype, while low, oscillatory shear stress stimulates atherogenic responses^{27, 31, 32}. Steady laminar shear stress promotes the release of several factors that promote endothelial cell survival and prevent coagulation, migration of leukocytes, and smooth muscle cell and endothelial cell proliferation³². Vasoactive molecules, including nitric oxide (NO') and prostacyclin, promote vessel dilation and increased blood flow^{15, 17, 32}. In contrast, low and oscillatory shear stress induces the expression of surface molecules, including VCAM-1 and ICAM-1, as well as cytokines such as bone morphogenic protein-4 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) that promote monocyte adhesion^{17, 21, 32}. Secretion of PDGF, endothelin-1, and angiotensin II encourages vasoconstriction,

vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, and reactive oxygen species production^{15, 31, 32}. Such shear stress-dependent regulation of reactive oxygen species has been shown to play a critical role in the development of atherosclerosis.

Reactive Oxygen Species

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced in all aerobic cells and form as a byproduct of the normal metabolism of oxygen³³. Some are free radicals such as superoxide anion (O_2^{-}), hydroxyl radical (HO⁺), nitric oxide (NO⁺), and lipid radicals, while others, like hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and hypochlorous acid (HOCI), are not. Disproportionate generation of ROS, beyond the capacity of balancing antioxidant systems, results in oxidative stress through oxidative damage to DNA, protein, carbohydrates, and lipids^{33, 34}. In fact, oxidative stress has been implicated in the development of numerous diseases including neurodegenerative diseases, premature aging, cancer, and vascular diseases³⁵.

Reactive oxygen species arise from many different cellular sources such as mitochondrial respiration, hemoproteins, peroxidases, lipoxygenase, cyclooxygenase, cytochrome P450, NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase (XO), and nitric oxide synthase (NOS). Of these, NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, and NOS have been most extensively studied in the cardiovascular system^{33, 34}. These enzymes use various substrates as electron sources to reduce molecular oxygen to superoxide or hydrogen peroxide. Reduction of oxygen by one electron results in superoxide, while a two electron reduction, or dismutation of O_2^{-} by superoxide dismutase (SOD), produces $H_2O_2^{36}$. Accumulating O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 generated by these oxidases can further shift cellular redox balance by acting as a source of other ROS molecules. For example, endothelial NOS (eNOS) requires tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) and L-arginine to form NO⁻³⁷.

Without one or the other, eNOS becomes uncoupled and produces O_2^{-} and $H_2O_2^{-38, -39}$. This dramatically reduces the bioavailability of the antioxidant NO[•] and allows radicals it might normally react with to attack other targets. Furthermore, when eNOS is partially uncoupled, both O_2^{-} and NO[•] are produced, can react to generate the highly reactive ONOO⁻, and lead to a dramatic increase in oxidative stress³³. There is substantial evidence to suggest that these enzymes systems contribute significantly to such overproduction of ROS in the shear stress-dependent pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.

ROS and Atherosclerosis

ROS have been linked to atherosclerotic plaque formation in both animal models and human studies. In hypercholesterolemic rabbits, atherosclerosis resulting from diet was linked to XO-induced oxidative stress via the XO inhibitor oxypurinol⁴⁰. Moreover, in diseased human coronary arteries, electron spin resonance experiments found activation of both NADPH oxidase and XO⁴¹. NADPH oxidases have also been found to be activated, with concomitant O₂⁻⁻ production, in the vessels of atherosclerotic rabbits⁴². Additionally, mice lacking a critical NADPH oxidase subunit, p47 phox, develop reduced plaque burden in the aorta compared to hypercholesterolemic control animals⁴³. Peroxynitrite has also been implicated in atheroma formation. 3-nitrotyrosine, a marker of NO-mediated oxidative damage, was found in human atherosclerotic tissue, while LDL isolated from lesions was shown to be nitrated⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶.

The pathological effects of ROS in the vasculature can be correlated to stress in endothelial, vascular smooth muscle, and adventitial cells. In endothelial cells, OS-dependent ROS can mediate inflammatory pathways via increased nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) translocation, expression of adhesion molecules, and monocyte adhesion^{47, 48}. In addition, ROS generated by the endothelium promote atherogenic signaling

mechanisms in the vascular wall. It has been shown that NADPH oxidase-dependent oxidative stress induces smooth muscle cell proliferation^{49, 50}. Also, reduction of NO[•] bioavailability results in hypertension by attenuating endothelium-dependent vessel dilation⁵¹. O_2^{\bullet} and the NO[•] derivative ONOO⁻ act to directly oxidize lipid proteins, specifically LDL to ox LDL^{52, 53}. ox LDL can promote apoptosis, smooth muscle cell proliferation, and also act as powerful monocyte chemoattractant, upregulating proatherogenic molecules like MCP-1, IL-1 β , LOX-1 and PAI-1⁵⁴⁻⁵⁷.

Despite the pathological consequence of oxidative stress, transient subtoxic levels of ROS have recently been associated with several vital signaling pathways. Low levels of H₂O₂, produced in response to extracellular stimuli such as cytokines, neurotransmitters, peptide growth factors, and hormones, can affect protein function via oxidation of critical cysteine residues. This mechanism has been shown to influence the behavior of transcription factors, phospholipases, protein kinases and phosphatases, ion channels and G proteins⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰. As a result, hydrogen peroxide is considered a ubiquitous intracellular messenger at subtoxic concentrations. It has been shown to critically affect PDGF-, EGF-, and angiotensin II-dependent signaling and regulate targets such as protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP) and lipid phosphatase PTEN⁶¹⁻⁶⁵. This concept suggests that reactive oxygen species may play dual roles in the endothelium, contributing to the atheroprotective functions of laminar shear stress, as well as the inflammatory pathways induced by disturbed flow conditions⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸.

Shear Stress and ROS Production

Laurindo et al. were the first to described flow-dependent generation of ROS in endothelial cells. In both *ex vivo* and *in vivo* experiments using rabbit aortas, they established that short-term application of unidirectional shear stress stimulated O_2^{-1}

production⁶⁹. *In vitro* shear systems have subsequently demonstrated that LS stimulates ROS production acutely, but transient elevation returns to basal levels within a few hours⁶⁶. However, unlike LS, OS promotes sustained ROS production, maintaining elevated levels as long as cells are exposed to it ^{66, 70, 71}.

Many of the previously described ROS sources have been implicated in OS-mediated ROS generation. Several groups have found that oscillatory shear stress is a potent stimulator of O_2^{\bullet} in endothelial cells via the NADPH oxidase^{66, 70}. Moreover, McNally et al. showed that OS induces NADPH oxidase-dependent hydrogen peroxide, which shifts the balance of xanthine dehydrogenase and XO to promote additional $O_2^{\bullet-72}$. Work by Hsiai et al. also indicated that OS causes elevated peroxynitrite production⁷³. These differences in LS- versus OS-dependent ROS production contribute greatly to pathological cellular behavior.

We and others have found that OS-stimulated ROS production leads to ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin expression, and monocyte adhesion^{8, 66, 71, 74}. Conversely, laminar shear stress acts to reduce ROS levels and subsequent monocyte attachment^{75, 76}. The mechanism by which LS restricts such oxidative stress remains unclear. In the following study, we propose that mechanosensitive antioxidants play a considerable role in laminar shear-dependent redox balance and atheroprotection.

Antioxidants and Laminar Shear Stress

Antioxidant defense systems are critical to the protection of cellular macromolecules. They work to maintain a reductive cytosolic environment using both catalytic and nonenzymatic processes. In particular, it has been hypothesized that antioxidants are likely to regulate intracellular hydrogen peroxide in a localized manner. Production of H₂O₂ occurs where needed for intracellular signaling, while hydrogen peroxide molecules diffusing away from the site of action are destroyed⁷⁷. Numerous studies suggest that steady laminar flow promotes such a reducing environment in endothelial cells, decreasing both inflammation and apoptosis²⁷. In fact, laminar shear stress has been shown to regulate several antioxidants including heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), ferritin heavy chains (FTH), NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1), glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit (GCLM), thioredoxin reductase1 (TXNRD1), glutathione reductase (GSR), endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), superoxide dismutase, glutathione (GSH) and thioredoxin (TRX)^{27, 66, 75, 76, 78-80}.

Many of these genes are regulated through a conserved antioxidant response element (ARE) or ARE-like transcriptional regulatory sequence in their promoter^{75, 80, 81}. The ARE, also called the electrophile response element (EpRE), is a *cis*-acting DNA regulatory element with a core sequence of 5'-RTGACNNNGC-3'81-83. Transcription factor NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a basic leucine zipper protein (bZIP), activates the ARE and its downstream genes by binding to the consensus sequence. Under homeostatic conditions, the cytoskeleton binding protein Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) binds Nrf2 in the cytoplasm and targets it for degradation via the ubiquitin-proteasome system. However, when cells are exposed to stress, Nrf2 is released and travels to the nucleus, where it forms a heterodimer with another bZIP, Maf, and binds to the ARE⁸¹⁻⁸⁵. Interestingly, recent reports have shown that Nrf2 and the ARE are both sensitive to laminar shear stress^{80, 82, 85, 86}. These findings suggest a mechanistic pathway for the atheroprotective effects of laminar shear stress and provide further experimental evidence for the important role of antioxidant systems in endothelial cells.

Peroxiredoxins (PRX)

Recently, a new group of ubiquitous antioxidant proteins has been acknowledged in yeast, plant and animal cells species. The peroxiredoxins (PRX) are thiol specific-, non-selenium containing enzymes that use redox-active cysteines to reduce peroxides and eliminate ONOO⁻. They are produced at high levels in the cell, having been reported to comprise 100 nanograms to a few micrograms per milligram of soluble protein in mammalian cells^{87, 88}. Based on conserved cysteine residues, six isoforms of peroxiredoxin (PRX 1-6) have been identified in mammalian systems.



Figure 1.5 Peroxiredoxin family members reduce hydrogen peroxide in cells. (A) Mammalian PRX exist in three classes and contain either one or two conserved cysteine residues. Figure reprinted with permission³⁵. Copyright © 2002 Maney Publishing. (B) Active PRX exist in a reduced state. Upon oxidation by hydrogen peroxide, they can either be inactivated by further oxidation or return to their active state with the help of an electron donor such as thioredoxin. Figure reprinted with permission⁷⁷. Copyright © 2005 Elsevier.

Peroxiredoxin isoforms can be divided into three subcategories (Figure 1.5). Typical 2-Cys PRX contain both the N-terminal and C-terminal conserved cysteine residues and require both of them for catalytic function. PRX 1, 2, 3, and 4 are typical 2-cys PRX and form homodimeric associations in a head-to-tail fashion upon oxidation^{35, 88}. Atypical 2-Cys and 1-Cys PRX proteins possess only the N-terminal "peroxidatic" Cys, but atypical 2-Cys PRX requires an additional non-conserved cysteine for catalytic activity⁷⁷. PRX 5 and 6 are atypical 2-Cys and 1-Cys PRX, respectively, and complete their catalytic cycle as monomers³⁵.

The peroxidase reaction for each subclass of PRX includes an identical first step where the peroxidatic cysteine attacks the peroxide substrate and is oxidized to a cysteine sulfenic acid. For typical 2-Cys peroxiredoxins, this intermediate can either be further oxidized and inactivated by hydrogen peroxide, or it can react with the C-terminal cysteine in the other subunit to form an intermolecular disulfide^{35, 77, 88}. The catalytic cycle is completed when the sulfinylated (Cys-SO₂H) or dimeric PRX is reduced by sulfiredoxin or thioredoxin, respectively⁸⁸⁻⁹¹. For PRX 5, the sulfenic acid intermediate reacts with the sulfhydryl group of the C-terminal cysteine on the same molecule and forms an intramolecular disulfide. As before, this disulfide is reduced via thioredoxin electron donation. The reaction scheme for the catalytic cycle of 1-Cys PRX proteins uses a reacting thiol as a reducing substrate. The disulfide bond is formed between the thiol and sulfinylated (Cys-SO₂H) PRX. Ground state is achieved by attack of a second thiol on the disulfide bridge⁹². Although the identity of this thiol donor remains controversial, GSH, lipoic acid, and cyclophilin A have been proposed as reductants^{93, 94}.

Peroxiredoxins are prime candidates for regulators of local hydrogen peroxide signaling in endothelial cells. They have been shown to be broadly distributed in the subcellular compartments of several mammalian cells types, and subsequently, have access to regional ROS production^{87, 88}. In addition, 2-Cys PRX exhibit a high degree of affinity for hydrogen peroxide; a concentration of less then 20 micromolar H₂O₂ results in half maximal PRX activity⁹⁵. Studies using siRNA and PRX-specific overexpression have shown that peroxiredoxin enzymes significantly affect the intracellular level of hydrogen peroxide.⁷⁷ In fact, overexpression of PRX 1 and 2 blunts PDGF- and EGF-dependent

 H_2O_2 production and TNF-α-induced NF-κB transcriptional activity^{96, 97}. PRX have also modulated signaling effects of these cytokines, affecting JNK, ERK, and p38 MAP kinase and blocking the induction of ceramide-dependent apoptosis^{98, 99}. These results suggest that PRX serve as important members of the signaling cascade by specifically destroying hydrogen peroxide molecules.

Like many participants in intracellular signaling, peroxiredoxin proteins can be regulated at the transcriptional level and by post-translational modification. In 2000, Ishii et al. found that oxidative stress promotes PRX 1 gene expression via the Nrf2 transcription factor in macrophages¹⁰⁰. Kim et al. also established Nrf2 as a regulator of PRX 1 in cancer cells exposed to hypoxia/reoxygenation⁸³. However, additional work in macrophage and monocytic cell lines identified activator protein-1 (AP-1) as the important transcription factor in tumor promoter-dependent PRX 1 expression¹⁰¹. Furthermore, recent studies have revealed that FOXO3A induces PRX 3, NFR-1 and GABPA affect PRX5, and Pax5 regulates PRX 6 gene expression, in cardiac fibroblasts, HeLa cells, and mouse B cells, respectively¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴.

Additionally, PRX have been shown to be both phosphorylated and sulfinylated^{91, 105}. Phosphorylation of PRX 1 and 2 at Thr⁹⁰ by cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk) results in a loss of peroxidase activity. These results suggest that accumulation of hydrogen peroxide may be critical during the normal progression of the cell cycle^{77, 105}. Similarly, sulfinylation of PRX (conversion of Cys-SH to Cys-SO₂H) causes reduction in 2-Cys PRX activity that can be rescued by sulfiredoxin, but not thioredoxin⁸⁹. This reversible inactivation is likely to accommodate the intracellular messenger function of hydrogen peroxide¹⁰⁶. As previously mentioned, hydrogen peroxide is likely tightly regulated. Protection from destruction by the large pool of PRX allows H₂O₂ concentration to

increase rapidly above a certain threshold at the site of signaling. At the same time, the slow rate of PRX reactivation by sulfiredoxin allows enough time for hydrogen peroxide accumulation and signal cascade propagation^{64, 77}.

Recent studies have elucidated several functional roles for PRX. Work by the A.B. Fisher group has shown the importance of PRX 6 in heart recovery following ischemia reperfusion injury and in protection from phospholipid peroxidation-mediated membrane damage^{107, 108}. PRX 2 has been found to regulate PDGF signaling and vascular remodeling, as well as cellular senescence and death^{65, 109, 110}. In addition, PRX 1 affects NFkB signaling, PRX 4 is involved in acrosome formation during sperm development, and PRX 3 regulates mitochondrial apoptosis^{102, 111-113}. However, no studies have yet investigated the role of shear stress on PRX regulation in endothelial cells. Based on their wide variety of physiological functions, we believe that peroxiredoxin antioxidants are likely involved in the molecular mechanisms that control shear stress-dependent redox state and atherosclerotic plaque development.

References

- 1. American Heart Association. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics 2008 Update. In. Dallas, TX: American Heart Association; 2008.
- 2. Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 1993;362(6423):801-9.
- 3. Fernandez-Britto JE, Wong R, Contreras D, Nordet P, Sternby NH. Pathomorphometrical characteristics of atherosclerosis in youth. A multinational investigation of WHO/World Heart Federation (1986-1996), using atherometric system. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 1999;9(5):210-9.
- 4. Ross R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 1999;340(2):115-26.
- 5. Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation 2002;105(9):1135-43.
- 6. Endres M, Laufs U, Merz H, Kaps M. Focal expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in the human carotid bifurcation. Stroke 1997;28(1):77-82.
- 7. Libby P. Vascular biology of atherosclerosis: overview and state of the art. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):3A-6A.
- 8. Chiu JJ, Chen CN, Lee PL, Yang CT, Chuang HS, Chien S, et al. Analysis of the effect of disturbed flow on monocytic adhesion to endothelial cells. J Biomech 2003;36(12):1883-95.
- 9. Kadar A, Glasz T. Development of atherosclerosis and plaque biology. Cardiovasc Surg 2001;9(2):109-21.
- 10. Caro CG, Fitz-Gerald JM, Schroter RC. Arterial wall shear and distribution of early atheroma in man. Nature 1969;223(211):1159-60.
- 11. Zarins CK, Giddens DP, Bharadvaj BK, Sottiurai VS, Mabon RF, Glagov S. Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress. Circ Res 1983;53(4):502-14.
- 12. Ku DN, Giddens DP, Zarins CK, Glagov S. Pulsatile flow and atherosclerosis in the human carotid bifurcation. Positive correlation between plaque location and low oscillating shear stress. Arteriosclerosis 1985;5(3):293-302.
- 13. Davies PF, Shi C, Depaola N, Helmke BP, Polacek DC. Hemodynamics and the focal origin of atherosclerosis: a spatial approach to endothelial structure, gene expression, and function. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001;947:7-16; discussion 16-7.
- 14. Papadaki M, Eskin SG. Effects of Fluid Shear Stress on Gene Regulation of Vascular Cells. Biotechnol. Prog. 1997;13(3):209-221.
- 15. Nerem RM, Harrison DG, Taylor WR, Alexander RW. Hemodynamics and vascular endothelial biology. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993;21 Suppl 1:S6-10.
- Dewey CJ, Bussolari S, Gimbrone MJ, Davies P. The dynamic response of vascular endothelial cells to fluid shear stress. J Biomech Eng 1981;103(3):177-85.
- 17. Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Chappell DC, Medford RM, Varner SE, Taylor WR. The study of the influence of flow on vascular endothelial biology. Am J Med Sci 1998;316(3):169-75.
- 18. Ku DN. Blood Flow in Arteries. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 1997;29:399-434.
- 19. Hajra L, Evans AI, Chen M, Hyduk SJ, Collins T, Cybulsky MI. The NF-kappa B signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97(16):9052-7.
- 20. Resnick N, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Hemodynamic forces are complex regulators of endothelial gene expression. Faseb J 1995;9(10):874-82.
- 21. Sorescu GP, Sykes M, Weiss D, Platt MO, Saha A, Hwang J, et al. Bone morphogenic protein 4 produced in endothelial cells by oscillatory shear stress stimulates an inflammatory response. J Biol Chem 2003;278(33):31128-35.
- 22. Helmlinger G, Geiger RV, Schreck S, Nerem RM. Effects of pulsatile flow on cultured vascular endothelial cell morphology. J Biomech Eng 1991;113(2):123-31.

- 23. Chiu JJ, Chen LJ, Lee PL, Lee CI, Lo LW, Usami S, et al. Shear stress inhibits adhesion molecule expression in vascular endothelial cells induced by coculture with smooth muscle cells. Blood 2003;101(7):2667-74.
- 24. Dai G, Kaazempur-Mofrad MR, Natarajan S, Zhang Y, Vaughn S, Blackman BR, et al. Distinct endothelial phenotypes evoked by arterial waveforms derived from atherosclerosis-susceptible and -resistant regions of human vasculature. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101(41):14871-6.
- 25. Sdougos HP, Bussolari SR, Dewey CF. Secondary flow and turbulence in a cone-and-plate device. J Fluid Mech 1984;138:379-404.
- 26. Levesque MJ, Nerem RM. The elongation and orientation of cultured endothelial cells in response to shear stress. J Biomech Eng 1985;107(4):341-7.
- 27. Berk BC. Atheroprotective Signaling Mechanisms Activated by Steady Laminar Flow in Endothelial Cells. Circulation 2008;117(8):1082-1089.
- 28. Davies PF. Flow-mediated endothelial mechanotransduction. Physiol Rev 1995;75(3):519-60.
- 29. Tzima E, Irani-Tehrani M, Kiosses WB, Dejana E, Schultz DA, Engelhardt B, et al. A mechanosensory complex that mediates the endothelial cell response to fluid shear stress. Nature 2005;437(7057):426-431.
- 30. Florian JA, Kosky JR, Ainslie K, Pang Z, Dull RO, Tarbell JM. Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan Is a Mechanosensor on Endothelial Cells. Circ Res 2003;93(10):e136-142.
- 31. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):7A-11A.
- 32. Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar Shear Stress : Mechanisms by Which Endothelial Cells Transduce an Atheroprotective Force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18(5):677-685.
- 33. Cai H, Harrison DG. Endothelial Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Diseases: The Role of Oxidant Stress. Circ Res 2000;87(10):840-844.
- 34. Madamanchi NR, Vendrov A, Runge MS. Oxidative Stress and Vascular Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005;25(1):29-38.

- 35. Fujii J, and Ikeda, Yoshitaka. Advances in our understanding of peroxiredoxin, a multifunctional, mammalian redox protein. Redox Report 2002;7(3):123-130.
- Cai H, Griendling KK, Harrison DG. The vascular NAD(P)H oxidases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular diseases. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences 2003;24(9):471-478.
- 37. Radomski MW, Salas E. Nitric oxide--biological mediator, modulator and factor of injury: its role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 1995;118 Suppl:S69-80.
- 38. Pou S, Pou WS, Bredt DS, Snyder SH, Rosen GM. Generation of superoxide by purified brain nitric oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 1992;267(34):24173-6.
- 39. Vasquez-Vivar J, Kalyanaraman B, Martasek P, Hogg N, Masters BS, Karoui H, et al. Superoxide generation by endothelial nitric oxide synthase: the influence of cofactors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95(16):9220-5.
- 40. Ohara Y, Peterson TE, Harrison DG. Hypercholesterolemia increases endothelial superoxide anion production. J Clin Invest 1993;91(6):2546-51.
- 41. Spiekermann S, Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Bredt M, Gamez G, Tatge H, et al. Electron spin resonance characterization of vascular xanthine and NAD(P)H oxidase activity in patients with coronary artery disease: relation to endotheliumdependent vasodilation. Circulation 2003;107(10):1383-9.
- 42. Warnholtz A, Nickenig G, Schulz E, Macharzina R, Brasen JH, Skatchkov M, et al. Increased NADH-oxidase-mediated superoxide production in the early stages of atherosclerosis: evidence for involvement of the renin-angiotensin system. Circulation 1999;99(15):2027-33.
- 43. Barry-Lane PA, Patterson C, van der Merwe M, Hu Z, Holland SM, Yeh ET, et al. p47phox is required for atherosclerotic lesion progression in ApoE(-/-) mice. J Clin Invest 2001;108(10):1513-22.
- 44. Beckmann JS, Ye YZ, Anderson PG, Chen J, Accavitti MA, Tarpey MM, et al. Extensive nitration of protein tyrosines in human atherosclerosis detected by immunohistochemistry. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 1994;375(2):81-8.
- 45. Buttery LD, Springall DR, Chester AH, Evans TJ, Standfield EN, Parums DV, et al. Inducible nitric oxide synthase is present within human atherosclerotic lesions

and promotes the formation and activity of peroxynitrite. Lab Invest 1996;75(1):77-85.

- 46. Leeuwenburgh C, Hardy MM, Hazen SL, Wagner P, Oh-ishi S, Steinbrecher UP, et al. Reactive nitrogen intermediates promote low density lipoprotein oxidation in human atherosclerotic intima. J Biol Chem 1997;272(3):1433-6.
- 47. Suzuki Y, et al. Effect of NADPH oxidase inhibition on endothelial cell ELAM-1 mRNA expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992.;184(3):1339-43.
- 48. Weber C, et al. Antioxidants inhibit monocyte adhesion by suppressing nuclear factor-kappa B mobilization and induction of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in endothelial cells stimulated to generate radicals. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1994;14(10):1665-73.
- 49. Chiu JJ, et al.,. Reactive oxygen species are involved in shear stress-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997;17(12):3570-7.
- 50. Griendling KK, Ushio-Fukai M. Redox control of vascular smooth muscle proliferation. J Lab Clin Med 1998;132(1):9-15.
- 51. Mugge A, T. Peterson, and D.G. Harrison,. Release of nitrogen oxides from cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells is not impaired by calcium channel antagonists. Circulation 1991;83(4):1404-9.
- 52. Heinecke JW. Oxidants and antioxidants in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: implications for the oxidized low density lipoprotein hypothesis. Atherosclerosis, 1998.;141(1):1-15.
- 53. Leeuwenburgh C, et al. Reactive nitrogen intermediates promote low density lipoprotein oxidation in human atherosclerotic intima. J Biol Chem 1997;272(3):1433-6.
- 54. Quinn MT, et al. Oxidatively modified low density lipoproteins: a potential role in recruitment and retention of monocyte/macrophages during atherogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1987;84(9):2995-8.
- 55. Rajavashisth TB, et al. Induction of endothelial cell expression of granulocyte and macrophage colony-stimulating factors by modified low-density lipoproteins. Nature 1990;344(6263):254-7.

- 56. Cushing SD, et al. Minimally modified low density lipoprotein induces monocyte chemotactic protein 1 in human endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1990;87(13):5134-8.
- 57. Latron Y, et al. Stimulating effect of oxidized low density lipoproteins on plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 synthesis by endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1991;11(6):1821-9.
- 58. Martindale JL, Holbrook NJ. Cellular response to oxidative stress: signaling for suicide and survival. J Cell Physiol 2002;192(1):1-15.
- 59. Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL. Reactive oxygen species in cell signaling. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2000;279(6):L1005-28.
- 60. Burdon RH. Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in relation to mammalian cell proliferation. Free Radic Biol Med 1995;18(4):775-94.
- 61. Sundaresan M, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Irani K, Finkel T. Requirement for generation of H2O2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction. Science 1995;270(5234):296-9.
- 62. Bae YS, Kang SW, Seo MS, Baines IC, Tekle E, Chock PB, et al. Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced generation of hydrogen peroxide. Role in EGF receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 1997;272(1):217-21.
- 63. Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Yin Q, Fujio Y, Walsh K, et al. Reactive oxygen species mediate the activation of Akt/protein kinase B by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 1999;274(32):22699-704.
- 64. Rhee SG, Kang SW, Jeong W, Chang TS, Yang KS, Woo HA. Intracellular messenger function of hydrogen peroxide and its regulation by peroxiredoxins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2005;17(2):183-9.
- 65. Choi MH, Lee IK, Kim GW, Kim BU, Han YH, Yu DY, et al. Regulation of PDGF signalling and vascular remodelling by peroxiredoxin II. Nature 2005;435(7040):347-53.
- 66. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and Steady Laminar Shear Stress Differentially Affect Human Endothelial Redox State : Role of a Superoxide-Producing NADH Oxidase. Circ Res 1998;82(10):1094-1101.

- 67. Go Y-M, Patel RP, Maland MC, Park H, Beckman JS, Darley-Usmar VM, et al. Evidence for peroxynitrite as a signaling molecule in flow-dependent activation of c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 1999;277(4):H1647-1653.
- 68. Griendling KK, Sorescu D, Lassegue B, Ushio-Fukai M. Modulation of Protein Kinase Activity and Gene Expression by Reactive Oxygen Species and Their Role in Vascular Physiology and Pathophysiology. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20(10):2175-2183.
- 69. Laurindo FR, Pedro M de A, Barbeiro HV, Pileggi F, Carvalho MH, Augusto O, et al. Vascular free radical release. Ex vivo and in vivo evidence for a flow-dependent endothelial mechanism. Circ Res 1994;74(4):700-709.
- 70. Hwang J, Ing MH, Salazar A, Lassegue B, Griendling K, Navab M, et al. Pulsatile versus oscillatory shear stress regulates NADPH oxidase subunit expression: implication for native LDL oxidation. Circ Res 2003;93(12):1225-32.
- 71. Chappell DC, Varner SE, Nerem RM, Medford RM, Alexander RW. Oscillatory Shear Stress Stimulates Adhesion Molecule Expression in Cultured Human Endothelium. Circ Res 1998;82(5):532-539.
- 72. McNally JS, Davis ME, Giddens DP, Saha A, Hwang J, Dikalov S, et al. Role of xanthine oxidoreductase and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial superoxide production in response to oscillatory shear stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2003;285(6):H2290-7.
- 73. Hsiai TK, Hwang J, Barr ML, Correa A, Hamilton R, Alavi M, et al. Hemodynamics influences vascular peroxynitrite formation: Implication for lowdensity lipoprotein apo-B-100 nitration. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2007;42(4):519-529.
- 74. Burns MP, DePaola N. Flow-conditioned HUVECs support clustered leukocyte adhesion by coexpressing ICAM-1 and E-selectin. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;288(1):H194-204.
- 75. Chen X-L, Dodd G, Thomas S, Zhang X, Wasserman MA, Rovin BH, et al. Activation of Nrf2/ARE pathway protects endothelial cells from oxidant injury and inhibits inflammatory gene expression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;290(5):H1862-1870.

- 76. Harrison DG, Widder J, Grumbach I, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C. Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. Journal of Internal Medicine 2006;259(4):351-363.
- 77. Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 2005;38(12):1543-52.
- 78. Yamawaki H, Pan S, Lee RT, Berk BC. Fluid shear stress inhibits vascular inflammation by decreasing thioredoxin-interacting protein in endothelial cells. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(3):733-8.
- 79. Topper JN, Cai J, Falb D, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Identification of vascular endothelial genes differentially responsive to fluid mechanical stimuli: Cyclooxygenase-2, manganese superoxide dismutase, and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase are selectively up-regulated by steady laminar shear stress. PNAS 1996;93(19):10417-10422.
- 80. Warabi E, Takabe W, Minami T, Inoue K, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, et al. Shear stress stabilizes NF-E2-related factor 2 and induces antioxidant genes in endothelial cells: Role of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2007;42(2):260-269.
- 81. Chen XL, Kunsch C. Induction of cytoprotective genes through Nrf2/antioxidant response element pathway: a new therapeutic approach for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Curr Pharm Des 2004;10(8):879-91.
- 82. Chen XL, Varner SE, Rao AS, Grey JY, Thomas S, Cook CK, et al. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Biol Chem 2003;278(2):703-11.
- 83. Kim Y-J, Ahn J-Y, Liang P, Ip C, Zhang Y, Park Y-M. Human prx1 Gene Is a Target of Nrf2 and Is Up-regulated by Hypoxia/Reoxygenation: Implication to Tumor Biology. Cancer Res 2007;67(2):546-554.
- 84. Liu H, Colavitti R, Rovira II, Finkel T. Redox-Dependent Transcriptional Regulation. Circ Res 2005;97(10):967-974.
- 85. Hosoya T, Maruyama A, Kang M-I, Kawatani Y, Shibata T, Uchida K, et al. Differential Responses of the Nrf2-Keap1 System to Laminar and Oscillatory Shear Stresses in Endothelial Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2005;280(29):27244-27250.

- 86. Dai G, Vaughn S, Zhang Y, Wang ET, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical Forces in Atherosclerosis-Resistant Vascular Regions Regulate Endothelial Redox Balance via Phosphoinositol 3-Kinase/Akt-Dependent Activation of Nrf2. Circ Res 2007;101(7):723-733.
- 87. Kang SW, Rhee SG, Chang T-S, Jeong W, Choi MH. 2-Cys peroxiredoxin function in intracellular signal transduction: therapeutic implications Trends in Molecular Medicine 2005;11(12):571-578.
- 88. Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB. Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 2003;28(1):32-40.
- 89. Woo HA, Jeong W, Chang TS, Park KJ, Park SJ, Yang JS, et al. Reduction of cysteine sulfinic acid by sulfiredoxin is specific to 2-cys peroxiredoxins. J Biol Chem 2005;280(5):3125-8.
- 90. Woo HA, Chae HZ, Hwang SC, Yang KS, Kang SW, Kim K, et al. Reversing the inactivation of peroxiredoxins caused by cysteine sulfinic acid formation. Science 2003;300(5619):653-6.
- 91. Woo HA, Kang SW, Kim HK, Yang KS, Chae HZ, Rhee SG. Reversible oxidation of the active site cysteine of peroxiredoxins to cysteine sulfinic acid. Immunoblot detection with antibodies specific for the hyperoxidized cysteine-containing sequence. J Biol Chem 2003;278(48):47361-4.
- 92. Hofmann B, Hecht HJ, Flohe L. Peroxiredoxins. Biol Chem 2002;383(3-4):347-64.
- 93. Chen JW, Dodia C, Feinstein SI, Jain MK, Fisher AB. 1-Cys peroxiredoxin, a bifunctional enzyme with glutathione peroxidase and phospholipase A2 activities. J Biol Chem 2000;275(37):28421-7.
- 94. Lee SP, Hwang YS, Kim YJ, Kwon KS, Kim HJ, Kim K, et al. Cyclophilin a binds to peroxiredoxins and activates its peroxidase activity. J Biol Chem 2001;276(32):29826-32.
- 95. Chae HZ, Kim HJ, Kang SW, Rhee SG. Characterization of three isoforms of mammalian peroxiredoxin that reduce peroxides in the presence of thioredoxin. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1999;45(2-3):101-12.

- 96. Jin DY, Chae HZ, Rhee SG, Jeang KT. Regulatory role for a novel human thioredoxin peroxidase in NF-kappaB activation. J Biol Chem 1997;272(49):30952-61.
- 97. Kang SW, Chae HZ, Seo MS, Kim K, Baines IC, Rhee SG. Mammalian peroxiredoxin isoforms can reduce hydrogen peroxide generated in response to growth factors and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 1998;273(11):6297-302.
- 98. Kang SW, Chang TS, Lee TH, Kim ES, Yu DY, Rhee SG. Cytosolic peroxiredoxin attenuates the activation of Jnk and p38 but potentiates that of Erk in Hela cells stimulated with tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 2004;279(4):2535-43.
- 99. Zhang P, Liu B, Kang SW, Seo MS, Rhee SG, Obeid LM. Thioredoxin peroxidase is a novel inhibitor of apoptosis with a mechanism distinct from that of Bcl-2. J Biol Chem 1997;272(49):30615-8.
- 100. Ishii T, Itoh K, Takahashi S, Sato H, Yanagawa T, Katoh Y, et al. Transcription Factor Nrf2 Coordinately Regulates a Group of Oxidative Stress-inducible Genes in Macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 2000;275(21):16023-16029.
- 101. Hess A, Wijayanti N, Neuschafer-Rube AP, Katz N, Kietzmann T, Immenschuh S. Phorbol ester-dependent activation of peroxiredoxin I gene expression via a protein kinase C, Ras, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 2003;278(46):45419-34.
- 102. Chiribau CB, Cheng L, Cucoranu IC, Yu Y-S, Clempus RE, Sorescu D. FOXO3A regulates peroxiredoxin III expression in human cardiac fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 2008:M710610200.
- 103. Kropotov A, Usmanova N, Serikov V, Zhivotovsky B, Tomilin N. Mitochondrial targeting of human peroxiredoxinV protein and regulation of PRDX5 gene expression by nuclear transcription factors controlling biogenesis of mitochondria. FEBS Journal 2007;274(22):5804-5814.
- 104. Lee I-S, Choi WH, Kim JY, Jeong J-Y, Kim M-J, Nam J-H, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the murine 1-cys peroxiredoxin gene by the B cell-specific activator protein, Pax5. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 2008;9999(9999):n/a.
- Chang TS, Jeong W, Choi SY, Yu S, Kang SW, Rhee SG. Regulation of peroxiredoxin I activity by Cdc2-mediated phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2002;277(28):25370-6.

- 106. Wood ZA, Poole LB, Karplus PA. Peroxiredoxin evolution and the regulation of hydrogen peroxide signaling. Science 2003;300(5619):650-3.
- 107. Nagy N, Malik G, Fisher AB, Das DK. Targeted disruption of peroxiredoxin 6 gene renders the heart vulnerable to ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;291(6):H2636-40.
- 108. Manevich Y, Sweitzer T, Pak JH, Feinstein SI, Muzykantov V, Fisher AB. 1-Cys peroxiredoxin overexpression protects cells against phospholipid peroxidation-mediated membrane damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99(18):11599-604.
- Han YH, Kim HS, Kim JM, Kim SK, Yu DY, Moon EY. Inhibitory role of peroxiredoxin II (Prx II) on cellular senescence. FEBS Lett 2005;579(21):4897-902.
- 110. Moon JC, Hah YS, Kim WY, Jung BG, Jang HH, Lee JR, et al. Oxidative stressdependent structural and functional switching of a human 2-Cys peroxiredoxin isotype II that enhances HeLa cell resistance to H2O2-induced cell death. J Biol Chem 2005;280(31):28775-84.
- 111. Hansen JM, Moriarty-Craige S, Jones DP. Nuclear and cytoplasmic peroxiredoxin-1 differentially regulate NF-kappaB activities. Free Radic Biol Med 2007;43(2):282-8.
- 112. Sasagawa I, Matsuki S, Suzuki Y, Iuchi Y, Tohya K, Kimura M, et al. Possible involvement of the membrane-bound form of peroxiredoxin 4 in acrosome formation during spermiogenesis of rats. Eur J Biochem 2001;268(10):3053-61.
- 113. Chang TS, Cho CS, Park S, Yu S, Kang SW, Rhee SG. Peroxiredoxin III, a mitochondrion-specific peroxidase, regulates apoptotic signaling by mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2004;279(40):41975-84.

CHAPTER 2

SPECIFIC AIMS

Project Significance

The hemodynamic patterns generated by blood flow play an important role in the localized development of atherosclerosis. Straight regions of the vasculature are considered "protected" from atherogenesis by high levels of unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS). In contrast, plaque-prone areas in curves and bifurcations of the arterial tree correspond to locales exposed to low or unstable shear stress including oscillatory shear stress (OS)^{1, 2}. Numerous studies have linked these local mechanical forces to the behavior of the exposed endothelium. Endothelial cells experiencing disturbed flow exhibit oxidative stress and subsequent inflammatory molecule expression and monocyte recruitment as early signatures of atherosclerosis^{3, 4}. *In vitro* studies have established that OS increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels in endothelial cells, whereas LS blocks such responses. While OS-induced oxidative stress and inflammation have been shown to occur in an NADPH oxidase-dependent manner, the atheroprotective mechanisms of LS remain unidentified⁵⁻⁷.

Antioxidant defense systems are likely to play an important part in this LS-dependent balance of ROS. As antioxidant proteins, all six mammalian peroxiredoxins (PRX) reduce harmful hydrogen peroxide and have been linked to the prevention of oxidative stress, apoptosis, and inflammation^{8, 9}. However, PRX have been overlooked in endothelial cells and the oxidative pathways involved in plaque development. In the following study, we investigate the expression of all PRX family members in response to

physiologically relevant hemodynamic patterns and identify PRX 1 as an important regulator of endothelial cell redox balance.

Project Objective

The goal of this project is to investigate how atherogenic and atheroprotective fluid flow profiles regulate peroxiredoxin proteins and to identify how mechanosensitive antioxidants, specifically PRX 1, play a role in redox regulation. An understanding of how PRX 1 is regulated and what role it plays physiologically may contribute important insights into endothelial cell biology and vascular diseases.

Overall Hypothesis

Unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS), compared to disturbed oscillatory shear stress (OS), promotes increased expression of peroxiredoxins via transcriptional regulation, which in turn influences the balance of reactive oxygen species in endothelial cells. This hypothesis was tested according to three specific aims using cellular, molecular, and biochemical studies of bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC). Bovine aortic endothelial cells were chosen as an *in vitro* model to represent the arterial endothelial cells exposed to physiologically significant flow patterns in an *in vivo* setting.



Figure 2.1 Overall Hypothesis Atheroprotective laminar shear stress reduces reactive oxygen species levels in endothelial cells by inducing peroxiredoxin expression.

Specific Aim 1

Investigate shear stress-dependent expression and subcellular localization of peroxiredoxin family members in aortic endothelial cells.

Hypothesis: Laminar shear stress, compared to oscillatory shear stress, promotes increased expression of peroxiredoxins and modifies subcellular localization of individual PRX.



Figure 2.2 Experimental layout for Specific Aim 1

To determine the effect of different hemodynamic profiles on peroxiredoxin family members, we examined overall protein expression and protein localization in response to shear stress (Figure 2.2). An *in vitro* shear system, the modified cone-and-plate viscometer, was used to expose bovine aortic endothelial cells to chronic unidirectional laminar shear stress or oscillatory shear stress. Immunoblot and immunofluorescence staining were employed to characterize shear stress-dependent expression patterns and establish a clear picture of the individual behavior of all six mammalian peroxiredoxins.

Specific Aim 2

Identify the role of PRX 1 in shear stress-dependent reactive oxygen species regulation.

Hypothesis: Laminar shear stress maintains low levels of reactive oxygen species in endothelial cells via the expression of PRX 1.



Figure 2.3 Experimental layout for Specific Aim 2

Characterization data from Specific Aim 1 demonstrated that intracellular PRX 1 is upregulated by chronic laminar shear stress and is strategically located to access reactive oxygen species from membrane-bound oxidases. To establish the physiological importance of PRX 1 in shear stress-dependent redox balance, we examined the role of PRX 1 in LS-mediated ROS regulation (Figure 2.3). The depletion of individual PRX from cellular systems provided a useful tool to study the functional role of each PRX isoform. In these studies, specific siRNAs were used to knockdown PRX 1 expression in endothelial cells. Subsequently, shear stress-induced hydrogen peroxide levels were assessed via Amplex Red fluorescence assay. Additional experiments using PRX 5 siRNAs further established the functional importance of PRX 1, amongst other PRX family members, in endothelial cell redox regulation. **Specific Aim 3**

Investigate the mechanism of shear stress-dependent PRX 1 expression in aortic endothelial cells.

Hypothesis: Laminar shear stress induces PRX 1 protein expression via transcriptional regulation of the *Prdx1* gene.



Figure 2.4 Experimental layout for Specific Aim 3

In Specific Aims 1 and 2, PRX 1 was found to be a novel mechanosensitive antioxidant playing an important role in shear stress-dependent regulation of endothelial cell biology. To identify the mechanism by which laminar shear stress promotes protein expression of PRX 1, we investigated the regulation of the *Prdx1* gene (Figure 2.4). Here, *Prdx1* gene expression was assessed in response to unidirectional laminar shear stress or oscillatory shear stress, as well as a possible transcription factor (Nrf2). mRNA degradation and *Prdx1* promoter studies further elucidated the critical regulation points in LS-dependent PRX 1 expression and provided potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

References

- 1. Caro CG, Fitz-Gerald JM, Schroter RC. Arterial wall shear and distribution of early atheroma in man. Nature 1969;223(211):1159-60.
- 2. Zarins CK, Giddens DP, Bharadvaj BK, Sottiurai VS, Mabon RF, Glagov S. Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress. Circ Res 1983;53(4):502-14.
- Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Chappell DC, Medford RM, Varner SE, Taylor WR. The study of the influence of flow on vascular endothelial biology. Am J Med Sci 1998;316(3):169-75.
- 4. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):7A-11A.
- 5. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and Steady Laminar Shear Stress Differentially Affect Human Endothelial Redox State : Role of a Superoxide-Producing NADH Oxidase. Circ Res 1998;82(10):1094-1101.
- 6. Chiu JJ, Chen CN, Lee PL, Yang CT, Chuang HS, Chien S, et al. Analysis of the effect of disturbed flow on monocytic adhesion to endothelial cells. J Biomech 2003;36(12):1883-95.
- 7. Harrison DG, Widder J, Grumbach I, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C. Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. Journal of Internal Medicine 2006;259(4):351-363.
- 8. Hofmann B, Hecht HJ, Flohe L. Peroxiredoxins. Biol Chem 2002;383(3-4):347-64.
- 9. Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB. Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 2003;28(1):32-40.

CHAPTER 3

LAMINAR SHEAR STRESS UPREGULATES PEROXIREDOXINS (PRX) IN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS – PRX 1 AS A MECHANOSENSITIVE ANTIOXIDANT

The overall objective of this thesis study is to examine the regulation of peroxiredoxin (PRX) family members in endothelial cells (EC) and to identify their role in shear stressmediated redox control. Via Specific Aim 1, we sought to investigate protein expression and subcellular localization of peroxiredoxins in response to physiologically relevant flow. Subsequently, the goal of Specific Aim 2 was to establish the functional importance of any mechanosensitive PRX in reactive oxygen species (ROS) management. To achieve these aims, an *in vitro* shear system was employed to generate atheroprotective or atherogenic shear stress patterns. For the first time, we have characterized the mechanosensitive nature of PRX antioxidants, able to locally and globally regulate hydrogen peroxide levels in endothelial cells.

Summary

Shear stress plays a significant role in endothelial cell biology and atherosclerosis development. Previous work by our group has shown that fluid flow stimulates important functional changes in cells through protein expression regulation. Peroxiredoxins are a novel family of antioxidant enzymes, but have yet to be investigated in response to shear stress. Studies have shown that oscillatory shear stress (OS) increases reactive oxygen species concentration in endothelial cells, whereas laminar shear stress (LS) blocks this response. We hypothesized that PRX are responsible for the anti-oxidative effect of LS. To test this hypothesis, bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) were subjected to LS (15 dyn/cm²), OS (± 5 dyn/cm², 1 Hz) or static (ST) conditions for 24 hours. Using Western

blot and immunofluorescence staining, all six isoforms of PRX were identified in BAEC. When compared to OS and ST, exposure to chronic LS upregulated PRX 1 levels intracellularly. LS also increased expression of PRX 5 relative to static controls, but not OS. PRX exhibited broad subcellular localization, with distribution in the cytoplasm, Golgi, mitochondria, and intermediate filaments. In addition, PRX 1-knockdown, using specific small interference RNA (siRNA), attenuated LS-dependent ROS reduction in BAEC. However, PRX 5 depletion did not. Together, these results suggest that PRX 1 is a novel mechanosensitive antioxidant, playing an important role in shear-dependent regulation of endothelial biology and atherosclerosis.

Introduction

Shear stress acting on the blood vessel wall plays an important role in the development of atherosclerosis. Straight regions of the arterial tree are considered "protected" from atherogenesis by high levels of unidirectional laminar shear stress^{1, 2}. In contrast, plaque-prone areas in curves and bifurcations of the vasculature correspond to locales exposed to low or unstable shear stress including oscillatory shear stress²⁻⁴. These local mechanical forces have been correlated to the behavior of the exposed endothelium⁵⁻⁷.

Endothelial cells exposed to disturbed flow experience oxidative stress, inflammatory molecule expression, and monocyte recruitment as early signatures of atherosclerosis⁸⁻¹². *In vitro* studies have established that OS is a potent stimulator of reactive oxygen species production in EC, and quantitative measurements by our group showed a significant increase in both OS-dependent superoxide (O_2^{--}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) production¹²⁻¹⁴. We found that OS-stimulated ROS occurs in an NADPH oxidase-dependent manner and leads to inflammatory responses (ICAM-1 expression and monocyte adhesion)^{13, 15}. Conversely, LS acts to reduce ROS production and

subsequent inflammatory response^{13, 16, 17}. Nevertheless, the mechanism by which LS restricts oxidative stress remains unclear.

Antioxidant defense systems are critical to the protection of cellular macromolecules. They work to maintain a reductive cytosolic environment using both catalytic and nonenzymatic processes¹⁸. In particular, it has been hypothesized that antioxidants are likely to regulate intracellular hydrogen peroxide in a localized manner. Production of H₂O₂ occurs where needed for intracellular signaling, while hydrogen peroxide molecules diffusing away from the site of action are destroyed¹⁹. Recently, a new group of ubiquitous antioxidant proteins has been acknowledged in yeast, plant, and animal cells. The peroxiredoxins (PRX) are thiol specific-, non-selenium containing enzymes that use redox-active cysteines to reduce peroxides and eliminate ONOO⁻. They are produced at high levels in the cell, having been reported to comprise 0.1-1% of soluble protein in mammalian cells²⁰. Based on conserved cysteine residues, six isoforms of peroxiredoxins (PRX 1-6) have been identified in mammalian systems, and a variety of investigations have described their functional roles in vascular remodeling, cancer and pulmonary and neurodegenerative diseases²¹⁻²⁴. However, no study has yet explored the role of shear stress on PRX regulation in endothelial cells.

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that shear stress alters PRX function by regulating protein expression and localization, which in turn affect the redox status of endothelial cells. Our studies show that all six forms of PRX are abundantly expressed in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) and that atheroprotective LS increased intracellular PRX 1 levels, compared to atherogenic OS. In addition, PRX 1 knockdown experiments implicated PRX 1, but not PRX 5, as an important regulator of shear-dependent cellular redox state.

Materials and Methods

Endothelial Cell Culture

Bovine aortic endothelial cells were obtained from Cell Applications Inc. Cells were maintained in a standard humidified incubator (37°C, 5% CO₂) in Dulbecco's minimum Eagle's medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta Biologicals), heparin sodium (American Pharmaceutical Partners), endothelial cell growth supplement (isolated by us), and minimum non-essential amino acids (Gibco). BAEC from passage 8-15 were used in the following experimental protocols.

Shear Stress Studies

BAEC were grown to confluent monolayers in 100 mm tissue culture dishes (Falcon) and were subsequently exposed to static (ST) culture conditions or arterial levels of shear stress via cone-and-plate shear apparatus. Atheroprotective LS at 15 dynes/cm² was simulated by rotating a Teflon cone $(0.5^{\circ}$ cone angle) unidirectionally in medium as previously described by us²⁵. To mimic unstable atherogenic OS, the cone was rotated bidirectionally in medium using a stepping motor (Servo Motor) and computer program (DC Motor Company). Endothelial cells were exposed to OS at ±5 dynes/cm² with directional changes of flow at 1 Hz frequency ¹⁰. All shear stress studies were performed in low serum (0.5% FBS) growth medium for 24 hours.

Preparation of Whole Cell Lysate

Following experimental treatment, cells were washed three times with ice cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and lysed with 600 μ L lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 4°C, 1% Nonidet P40, 0.25% Na-deoxycholate, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 30 mM NaF, 40 mM ß-glycerophosphate, 10 mM Na₄P₂O₇, 2 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM PMSF,

0.1% SDS). The lysate was further homogenized by sonication. The protein content of each sample was determined by Bio-Rad DC assay.

Immunoblotting

Aliquots of cell lysate (20-40 µg of protein each) were resolved by size on 12.5 or 15% SDS polyacrylamide gels and subsequently transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Millipore). The membrane was incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4 °C, followed by incubation with an alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. Protein expression was detected by a chemiluminescence method and the intensities of immunoreactive bands were determined via densitometry using the NIH Image program ²⁶. Primary antibodies specific for PRX 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 (Lab Frontier), phospho-eNOS (Ser1177), (Cell Signaling Technology), total eNOS (BD Biosciences Pharmingen) and actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) were used.

Immunocytochemistry

Following shear stress exposure or static culture, BAEC in 100 mm tissue culture dishes were washed three times with PBS. Cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized in 0.2% Triton-X 100. Primary antibody in 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) was applied overnight at 4^oC, followed by incubation with secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 or 568 (Molecular Probes) for 1 hour at room temperature. Nuclei were labeled with Hoechst stain in 3% BSA for 15 minutes at room temperature. To identify mitochondria, cells were incubated with 100 nM Mitotracker Red CMXRos (Molecular Probes) in growth medium for 15 minutes at 37^oC prior to fixation. All cells were mounted using the Prolong Antifade Kit (Molecular Probes) and fluorescence images were collected via confocal microscope (Zeiss LSM 510). Primary

antibodies specific for PRX 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 (Lab Frontier), the Golgi marker GM 130 (Transduction Laboratories), and the intermediate filament marker Vimentin (Sigma) were used.

Small Interfering RNA (siRNA)

Annealed siRNA duplexes and Oligofectamine (Invitrogen) transfection agent were applied to BAEC for 48-72 hours per manufacturer's recommendation. Control nonsilencing siRNA [sense: 5'-UUCUCCGAACGUGUCACGUtt, antisense: 5'-ACGUGACACGUUCGGAGAAtt] (Qiagen), Alexa Fluor 546-labeled control nonsilencing siRNA (Qiagen), bovine PRX 1 siRNA [sense: 5'-GUGCUUCUGUGGAUUCUCAtt, anti-sense: 5'-PhoUGAGAAUCCACAGAAGCACtt] (MWG), and bovine PRX 5 siRNA [sense; 5'-GUGGCAUGUCUGACCGUUAtt, antisense: 5'-PhoUAACGGUCAGACAUGCCACtt] (MWG) were used.

Hydrogen Peroxide Detection

Using a horseradish peroxidase-linked Amplex Red fluorescence assay, intracellular hydrogen peroxide production was measured via extracellular leakage of H_2O_2 from conditioned BAEC as previously described¹⁴. Briefly, cells were exposed to either static culture conditions or shear stress in low serum culture medium. After 24 hours, cells were washed twice with Krebs Ringer Phosphate (KRP) buffer and incubated with 5 μ M Amplex UltraRed (Molecular Probes) and 0.1 U/ml horseradish peroxidase type II (Sigma-Aldrich) in KRP for 40 minutes. To identify the hydrogen peroxide-specific signal, control samples were co-incubated with 500 U/ml catalase. Triplicate reading were taken in a 96-well plate using 100 μ I samples of media, and fluorescence was detected via plate reader at excitation and emission of 530 nm and 580 nm, respectively. Hydrogen peroxide levels were calculated in terms of catalase-inhibitable signal and

were normalized to cellular protein as measured by the Bio-Rad DC assay. H_2O_2 concentrations were estimated using a standard curve.

Statistical Analysis

For all quantitative data collected, statistical analysis was assessed by Student's t test using Microcal Origin statistical package. A significant difference between control and treatment groups was defined as p<0.05 for three or more independent experiments.

Results

LS upregulates PRX 1 expression in cell lysates.

Our previous work established that fluid shear stress critically affects endothelial cell function by regulating protein expression patterns. The PRX family is undeniably significant to cellular physiology and pathology, but remains understudied in the fluid flow field. This led us to investigate whether shear stress regulates the expression of mammalian PRX in BAEC. To this end, total BAEC lysates were collected after 24 hours of static culture, LS (15dynes/cm²), or OS (±5dynes/cm²) and analyzed by Western blot using PRX-specific antibodies. In these studies, static conditions (ST), cells cultured under no shear stress, were examined as a control for shear stress exposure. As previously described, physiologically "normal" arterial endothelial cells do not encounter chronic static conditions, but rather experience continuous fluid flow. Therefore, LS is a more relevant control, representing a healthy state, which we will compare to OS, the disease state. As such, endothelial cell alignment, phosphorylated endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), and total eNOS were also assessed as internal LS-dependent controls (Figure 3.1). With this in mind, all six PRX were detected in BAEC and densitometric analysis indicated the level of PRX 1 was significantly increased by LS compared to OS and static controls. In addition, PRX 5 expression was

significantly increased by LS with respect to static conditions, but was not statistically different from OS (Figure 3.1). Secreted forms of PRX 2, 4, and 6 were also detected in conditioned media following chronic LS (Figure A.1). However, we could not exclude cellular damage as a contributing factor in these findings. Therefore, our data suggest that PRX 1 is mechanosensitive and likely to play an important role in shear-dependent cell biology.



Figure 3.1 PRX 1 is upregulated by LS. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 1 day, and cell lysates were obtained. (A) Equal aliquots of protein (20-40µg) were analyzed by Western blot using antibodies specific to PRX 1-6. peNOS, teNOS, and actin blots were used as shear stress controls and internal loading controls, respectively. (B) Densitometric analysis was used to quantify the intensity of each band and the average values (mean \pm SEM, n=12) are shown in bar graphs as % of static control. * p<0.05 indicates significance compared to static control (ST). ** p<0.05 indicates significance compared to OS.

PRX exist in various subcellular locations throughout BAEC.

Via Western blots, we have thus far found that shear stress regulates PRX 1 and 5 expression in BAEC. Based on the large number of PRX family members, we hypothesized that individual PRX likely play important roles in specific subcellular

compartments. To investigate the intracellular distribution of PRX, confocal immunofluorescence staining studies were performed. This study revealed data consistent with Western blot analysis of shear-induced protein expression in BAEC. Image analysis of staining intensities indicated that PRX 1, increased after 24 hours of LS compared to OS and static conditions (Figure 3.2A).



Figure 3.2 LS stimulated PRX 1 expression in BAEC. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 1 day as in Figure 3.1. Cells were stained using antibodies specific to PRX 1-6. Secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (green) were imaged by confocal microscopy. Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst dye (blue). Arrows indicate unique subcellular staining patterns of each PRX.

In addition to the shear-dependency, Figure 3.2 also showed that PRX members exhibited assorted staining patterns. This result raised two interesting questions: 1) Are PRX located in specific subcellular locations and 2) does shear stress alter this subcellular localization? In order to clearly characterize the location of each PRX within specific subcellular compartments, colocalization staining was performed in static BAEC



Figure 3.3 PRX are located in various subcellular organelles in BAEC. Static BAEC were co-stained for PRX 1-6 and subcellular organelles using PRX-specific antibodies (green), as in Figure 3.2, and organelle-specific markers (red). Nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst dye (blue). Center panels: Mitochondria, Golgi, and intermediate filaments are stained with Mitotracker CMXRos, GM 130 antibody and Vimentin antibody, respectively. GM 130 and Vimentin were visualized by secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 568 (Red). Merged images are shown in the right panel. Yellow staining indicates colocalization.

using PRX-specific antibodies and organelle-specific markers for Golgi (GM 130), endoplasmic reticulum (KDEL receptor, data not shown), lysosome (cathepsin S, data not shown), intermediate filament (Vimentin) and mitochondria (Mitotracker). PRX 1 staining (green) overlapped with the Golgi marker staining (red), shown as yellow in the merged image (Figure 3.3A), suggesting that PRX 1 exists in the Golgi apparatus. In addition, PRX 2, 4, 5 and 6 also appeared to be found in the Golgi (Figure 3.3B, E, F, and G). The PRX 3 staining pattern was distinctly different from other PRX, showing clear colocalization with the mitochondria marker (Figure 3.3D). Interestingly, PRX 2 staining revealed colocalization with the intermediate filament marker (Figure 3.3C). In addition to these subcellular localizations, PRX 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 were also expressed in the cytosol (Figure 3.3A, B, C, E, F and G). Next, we examined whether shear stress stimulated expression of PRX members in other subcellular locations. Subcellular location did not appear to change in response to shear stress, although Golgi were located upstream of the direction of flow after chronic LS, consistent with previous reports (Figure 3.2A, B, D, E and F). Taken together, these results clearly indicate that PRX are abundantly expressed throughout the subcellular organelles of endothelial cells.

PRX 1 prevents oxidative stress in endothelial cells exposed to LS.

PRX 1 is a prominent antioxidant and our data indicates its expression is highly upregulated by LS ²⁷. Consequently, we investigated whether PRX 1 was responsible for the decreased ROS levels in endothelial cells exposed to LS. The depletion of individual PRX from cellular systems provides a useful tool to study the functional role of each PRX isoform. Here, specific siRNAs were used to knockdown either PRX 1 or PRX 5 protein levels in order to investigate PRX-dependent ROS accumulation. Western blots with isoform-specific PRX antibodies were used to determine the efficacy and specificity of these siRNAs. Compared to non-silencing siRNA and Alexa Fluor 546-labeled non-silencing siRNA (50 nM each), 48 hour-treatment of BAEC with PRX 1 siRNA dramatically reduced (by 75% of non-silencing control) expression of PRX 1, at a concentration as low as 10nM (Figure 3.4A). As shown in Figure 3.4B, 10nM PRX 5 siRNA also effectively reduced PRX 5 expression (by 90% of non-silencing control). Via Western Blots, the specificity of PRX 1 and 5 siRNAs were assessed by examining the

expression of all other PRX family members (Figure 3.4A and B). Using isoform-specific PRX antibodies, we found that these siRNAs had no significant effect on other PRX, indicating that they exclusively targeted PRX 1 or 5, respectively, amongst all PRX family members (Figure 3.4A and B). Therefore, PRX 1 and 5 siRNAs were confidently used at 10nM concentration in subsequent functional studies.



Figure 3.4 PRX 1 and PRX 5 siRNAs specifically reduce PRX 1 and PRX 5 protein expression, respectively. BAEC were transfected with either 50nM non-silencing siRNA (NS), 50nM Alexa Fluor 546-labeled siRNA (Alexa), or PRX 1 (A) or PRX 5 (B) siRNAs (10, 20, 50 and 100nM) for 48 hours. Cell lysates were analyzed by Western Blot with PRX-specific antibodies, as indicated. actin was used as an internal control.

It has been well established that chronic exposure of endothelial cells to OS stimulates, while LS inhibits, ROS production^{13, 14, 17, 28, 29}. Utilizing an Amplex Red assay in the presence or absence of catalase, we verified that hydrogen peroxide levels were 87% *less* in BAEC exposed to LS compared to those treated with OS (Figure 3.5A). Using a standard hydrogen peroxide dose curve, we also found that the relative hydrogen peroxide levels following static culture, LS, and OS were consistent with expected



Figure 3.5 PRX 1 knockdown increases H_2O_2 production in BAEC, while PRX 5 knockdown does not. Catalase-inhibitable hydrogen peroxide levels were assessed via Amplex Red Assay and average values (mean \pm SEM, n=6-12) are shown in bar graphs as % of non-silencing (NS) siRNA-treated static controls. (A) Confluent BAEC were exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours prior to assay. (B) A hydrogen peroxide dose curve was used to estimate relative hydrogen peroxide concentrations in cells conditioned with shear stress. (C) BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing or PRX 1 siRNA (10nM) for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours, prior to assay. (D) BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing or PRX 5 siRNA (10nM) for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours, prior to assay. (D) BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing or PRX 5 siRNA (10nM) for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours, prior to assay. (D) BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing or PRX 5 siRNA (10nM) for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours, prior to assay. * p<0.05 designate significance between indicated groups.

cellular concentrations (Figure 3.5B). To determine whether PRX 1 was responsible for the LS-dependent decrease in ROS levels in BAEC, we knocked down PRX 1 using PRX 1 siRNA as indicated above (Figure 3.4A). PRX 1 depletion significantly increased catalase-inhibitable hydrogen peroxide by two fold above non-silencing controls, in static- LS-, and OS-treated BAEC (Figure 3.5C). To investigate whether this was a global effect of mechanosensitive PRX family members, we also knocked down PRX 5 using PRX 5-specific siRNA. However, when compared to non-silencing controls, PRX 5 depletion had no significant effect on hydrogen peroxide levels in any group (Figure 3.5D). Taken together, these data suggest that PRX 1 is a critically important regulator of ROS levels in both a basal and shear-dependent manner.

Discussion

Through protein expression analysis and subsequent functional studies, we have discovered PRX 1 as a mechanosensitive antioxidant. Data to support this concept include: (1) PRX 1 is upregulated intracellularly by chronic LS compared to OS; (2) PRX exhibit broad staining patterns in BAEC and localize in important cellular structures; (3) ROS production is significantly reduced in cells exposed to chronic LS, and (4) this effect can be attenuated by PRX 1 depletion, but not PRX 5 depletion.

Through this work, we reveal for the first time that PRX are regulated by shear stress in endothelial cells. Previous studies have shown that other antioxidants are also controlled by shear stress. LS has been shown to regulate antioxidant genes including eNOS, Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD), Mn SOD, glutathione peroxidase (GPX), glutathione (GSH) and thioredoxin (TRX)^{6, 13, 17, 30-34}. In addition, Chen et al. observed that many genes protective against oxidative stress are induced by exposure to prolonged LS. They have also noted that such genes are regulated through a conserved, shear-sensitive antioxidant response element (ARE)^{35, 36}. In support of our finding that PRX 1 expression is LS-dependent, recent work has shown that PRX 1 is a target gene of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a key transcription factor which binds to ARE³⁷. Collectively, these studies indicate that cells

possess an elaborate system of shear-responsive antioxidants and that each may play an independent role to mediate oxidative stress and modulate redox-sensitive signaling pathways.

The ubiquitous nature of the PRX family itself exemplifies this concept. Immunofluorescence microscopy revealed PRX throughout the cellular milieu of BAEC, colocalizing with the cytoplasm, Golgi apparatus, mitochondria, and intermediate filaments. These observations were consistent with previously reported localization studies in other cell types, but we are the first to report an apparent PRX 2 colocalization with vimentin^{38, 39}. This costaining of PRX 2 with vimentin suggests that it may be located in the intermediate filament, but further studies will be necessary to confirm this finding. Though detection of PRX in the Golgi body likely reflects protein processing or packaging, localization within other organelles indicates that PRX may act both globally and in a site-specific manner to regulate ROS in endothelial cells. In the endothelium, ROS, such as O_2^{\bullet} and H_2O_2 arise from several sources including NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, mitochondrial oxidase, cytochrome P450 and uncoupled nitric oxide synthase^{40, 41}. At relatively low concentrations, ROS play critical roles in redox signaling and normal cell function. However, higher concentrations of ROS induce oxidative damage of DNA, proteins, carbohydrates and lipids ⁴²⁻⁴⁴. This damage has been shown to critically affect cellular function and apoptosis when it occurs in mitochondria, lysosomes, and nuclei⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷. In addition, cytosolic proteins modified by ROS have been shown to affect local cell signaling and, collectively, the redox status of the cell^{48, 49}. Ubiquitous distribution of PRX in BAEC may reflect diverse sources of ROS throughout the cells and provide protection for important macromolecules and structures against local ROS production. In addition, widespread allocation of PRX may also be important for comprehensive management of the overall oxidative state of cells.

Several studies have shown that oxidative stress is regulated by shear stress in endothelial cells^{13, 14}. We have previously published that both LS and OS stimulate ROS production acutely, but the ROS transiently elevated by LS returns to basal levels within a few hours¹³. However, unlike LS, OS continues to increase ROS production, maintaining elevated levels as long as cells are exposed to OS ^{13, 29}. The mechanism by which ROS levels are lowered in cells exposed to chronic LS is undefined. This study demonstrates that endothelial cells exposed to chronic LS express much more PRX 1 compared to OS and static conditions. These findings suggest that PRX 1 is upregulated by LS and that this may be responsible for LS-mediated decrease in ROS levels.

As previously determined by electron spin spectrometry resonance and dichlorofluorescein-diacetate methods, endothelial cells exposed to OS produce significantly more superoxide and hydrogen peroxide than those in static culture¹⁴. In contrast, endothelial cells treated with chronic, unidirectional high shear generate considerably less O_2^{\bullet} . Here, we used Amplex Red assay as an independent method to measure ROS levels in BAEC. Consistent with our previous reports, OS increased and LS decreased ROS production (Figure 3.5A). The ROS measured by this assay was inhibitable by catalase, indicating that H_2O_2 is the primary ROS component.

PRX 1 is the most abundant and ubiquitously distributed member of mammalian PRX²⁷. Our current study demonstrated that PRX 1 is dramatically upregulated by chronic LS compared to OS and is located in the cytoplasm and Golgi. Knockdown of PRX 1 using siRNA resulted in significantly higher ROS levels in BAEC exposed to LS, OS, and static conditions, while PRX 5 depletion did not. Although PRX 1 knockdown did not fully abolish the antioxidative outcome of LS, its significant effect was somewhat surprising considering the presence of other PRX family members and additional mechanosensitive antioxidant pathways. In addition, PRX 5 depletion studies provide further evidence that PRX 1 is crucial to shear-dependent ROS regulation. Altogether, these results indicate that chronic exposure to LS upregulates PRX 1 expression in order to keep ROS levels low in endothelial cells.

In summary, we have shown that shear stress regulates expression of the PRX family and that PRX 1 plays a critical role in regulating ROS levels in endothelial cells. Furthermore, this discovery of PRX 1 as a mechanosensitive antioxidant may contribute important insights into endothelial cell biology and vascular diseases.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by funding from National Institute of Health grants HL75209, HL87012, and HL80711 (HJ) and 21C Frontier Functional Proteomics Project (FPR05C2-510) from Korean Ministry of Science & Technology (DHK and SWK), as well as an American Heart Association pre-doctoral fellowship (ALM). We would like to thank Kyung Hwa Chang, Hannah Song, Mamta Patel, Chih Wen Ni, and Sarah Tressel at Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University for helpful comments during these studies.

References

- 1. Davies PF, Shi C, Depaola N, Helmke BP, Polacek DC. Hemodynamics and the focal origin of atherosclerosis: a spatial approach to endothelial structure, gene expression, and function. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001;947:7-16; discussion 16-7.
- 2. Zarins CK, Giddens DP, Bharadvaj BK, Sottiurai VS, Mabon RF, Glagov S. Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress. Circ Res 1983;53(4):502-14.
- 3. Caro CG, Fitz-Gerald JM, Schroter RC. Arterial wall shear and distribution of early atheroma in man. Nature 1969;223(211):1159-60.
- 4. Ku DN, Giddens DP, Zarins CK, Glagov S. Pulsatile flow and atherosclerosis in the human carotid bifurcation. Positive correlation between plaque location and low oscillating shear stress. Arteriosclerosis 1985;5(3):293-302.
- 5. Papadaki M, Eskin SG. Effects of Fluid Shear Stress on Gene Regulation of Vascular Cells. Biotechnol. Prog. 1997;13(3):209-221.
- 6. Berk BC. Atheroprotective Signaling Mechanisms Activated by Steady Laminar Flow in Endothelial Cells. Circulation 2008;117(8):1082-1089.
- 7. Nerem RM, Harrison DG, Taylor WR, Alexander RW. Hemodynamics and vascular endothelial biology. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993;21 Suppl 1:S6-10.
- Hajra L, Evans AI, Chen M, Hyduk SJ, Collins T, Cybulsky MI. The NF-kappa B signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97(16):9052-7.
- 9. Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Chappell DC, Medford RM, Varner SE, Taylor WR. The study of the influence of flow on vascular endothelial biology. Am J Med Sci 1998;316(3):169-75.
- 10. Sorescu GP, Sykes M, Weiss D, Platt MO, Saha A, Hwang J, et al. Bone morphogenic protein 4 produced in endothelial cells by oscillatory shear stress stimulates an inflammatory response. J Biol Chem 2003;278(33):31128-35.
- 11. Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar Shear Stress : Mechanisms by Which Endothelial Cells Transduce an Atheroprotective Force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18(5):677-685.

- 12. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):7A-11A.
- 13. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and Steady Laminar Shear Stress Differentially Affect Human Endothelial Redox State : Role of a Superoxide-Producing NADH Oxidase. Circ Res 1998;82(10):1094-1101.
- 14. McNally JS, Davis ME, Giddens DP, Saha A, Hwang J, Dikalov S, et al. Role of xanthine oxidoreductase and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial superoxide production in response to oscillatory shear stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2003;285(6):H2290-7.
- 15. Burns MP, DePaola N. Flow-conditioned HUVECs support clustered leukocyte adhesion by coexpressing ICAM-1 and E-selectin. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;288(1):H194-204.
- 16. Chen X-L, Dodd G, Thomas S, Zhang X, Wasserman MA, Rovin BH, et al. Activation of Nrf2/ARE pathway protects endothelial cells from oxidant injury and inhibits inflammatory gene expression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;290(5):H1862-1870.
- 17. Harrison DG, Widder J, Grumbach I, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C. Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. Journal of Internal Medicine 2006;259(4):351-363.
- 18. MatEs JM, Perez-Gomez C, De Castro IN. Antioxidant enzymes and human diseases. Clinical Biochemistry 1999;32(8):595-603.
- 19. Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 2005;38(12):1543-52.
- 20. Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB. Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 2003;28(1):32-40.
- 21. Kinnula VL, Lehtonen S, Sormunen R, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Kang SW, Rhee SG, et al. Overexpression of peroxiredoxins I, II, III, V, and VI in malignant mesothelioma. The Journal of Pathology 2002;196(3):316-323.
- 22. Kinnula VL, Lehtonen S, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Lakari E, Paakko P, Kang SW, et al. Cell specific expression of peroxiredoxins in human lung and pulmonary sarcoidosis. Thorax 2002;57(2):157-164.
- 23. Krapfenbauer K, Engidawork E, Cairns N, Fountoulakis M, Lubec G. Aberrant expression of peroxiredoxin subtypes in neurodegenerative disorders. Brain Research 2003;967(1-2):152-160.
- 24. Choi MH, Lee IK, Kim GW, Kim BU, Han YH, Yu DY, et al. Regulation of PDGF signalling and vascular remodelling by peroxiredoxin II. Nature 2005;435(7040):347-53.
- 25. Go YM, Boo YC, Park H, Maland MC, Patel R, Pritchard KA, Jr., et al. Protein kinase B/Akt activates c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase by increasing NO production in response to shear stress. J Appl Physiol 2001;91(4):1574-81.
- 26. Boo YC, Sorescu G, Boyd N, Shiojima I, Walsh K, Du J, et al. Shear stress stimulates phosphorylation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase at Ser1179 by Akt-independent mechanisms: role of protein kinase A. J Biol Chem 2002;277(5):3388-96.
- 27. Immenschuh S, Baumgart-Vogt E. Peroxiredoxins, oxidative stress, and cell proliferation. Antioxid Redox Signal 2005;7(5-6):768-77.
- 28. Chappell DC, Varner SE, Nerem RM, Medford RM, Alexander RW. Oscillatory Shear Stress Stimulates Adhesion Molecule Expression in Cultured Human Endothelium. Circ Res 1998;82(5):532-539.
- 29. Hwang J, Ing MH, Salazar A, Lassegue B, Griendling K, Navab M, et al. Pulsatile versus oscillatory shear stress regulates NADPH oxidase subunit expression: implication for native LDL oxidation. Circ Res 2003;93(12):1225-32.
- 30. Topper JN, Cai J, Falb D, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Identification of vascular endothelial genes differentially responsive to fluid mechanical stimuli: Cyclooxygenase-2, manganese superoxide dismutase, and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase are selectively up-regulated by steady laminar shear stress. PNAS 1996;93(19):10417-10422.
- 31. Takeshita S, Inoue N, Ueyama T, Kawashima S, Yokoyama M. Shear Stress Enhances Glutathione Peroxidase Expression in Endothelial Cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2000;273(1):66-71.

- 32. Mueller CFH, Widder JD, McNally JS, McCann L, Jones DP, Harrison DG. The Role of the Multidrug Resistance Protein-1 in Modulation of Endothelial Cell Oxidative Stress. Circ Res 2005;97(7):637-644.
- 33. Yamawaki H, Pan S, Lee RT, Berk BC. Fluid shear stress inhibits vascular inflammation by decreasing thioredoxin-interacting protein in endothelial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 2005;115(3):733-738.
- 34. Yamawaki H, Pan S, Lee RT, Berk BC. Fluid shear stress inhibits vascular inflammation by decreasing thioredoxin-interacting protein in endothelial cells. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(3):733-8.
- 35. Dai G, Vaughn S, Zhang Y, Wang ET, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical Forces in Atherosclerosis-Resistant Vascular Regions Regulate Endothelial Redox Balance via Phosphoinositol 3-Kinase/Akt-Dependent Activation of Nrf2. Circ Res 2007;101(7):723-733.
- 36. Chen XL, Varner SE, Rao AS, Grey JY, Thomas S, Cook CK, et al. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Biol Chem 2003;278(2):703-11.
- 37. Kim Y-J, Ahn J-Y, Liang P, Ip C, Zhang Y, Park Y-M. Human prx1 Gene Is a Target of Nrf2 and Is Up-regulated by Hypoxia/Reoxygenation: Implication to Tumor Biology. Cancer Res 2007;67(2):546-554.
- 38. Hofmann B, Hecht HJ, Flohe L. Peroxiredoxins. Biol Chem 2002;383(3-4):347-64.
- 39. Kang SW, Chae HZ, Seo MS, Kim K, Baines IC, Rhee SG. Mammalian peroxiredoxin isoforms can reduce hydrogen peroxide generated in response to growth factors and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 1998;273(11):6297-302.
- 40. Suzuki Y, Wang W, Vu TH, Raffin TA. Effect of NADPH oxidase inhibition on endothelial cell ELAM-1 mRNA expression. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 1992;184(3):1339-1343.
- 41. Weber C, Erl W, Pietsch A, Strobel M, Ziegler-Heitbrock HW, Weber PC. Antioxidants inhibit monocyte adhesion by suppressing nuclear factor-kappa B mobilization and induction of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in endothelial cells stimulated to generate radicals. Arterioscler Thromb 1994;14(10):1665-73.

- 42. Beckman KB, Ames BN. Oxidative decay of DNA. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1997;272(32):19633-19636.
- 43. Berlett BS, Stadtman ER. Protein oxidation in aging, disease, and oxidative stress. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1997;272(33):20313-20316.
- 44. Gutteridge JMC. Lipid-Peroxidation and Antioxidants as Biomarkers of Tissue-Damage. Clinical Chemistry 1995;41(12B):1819-1828.
- 45. Terman A, Gustafsson B, Brunk UT. Autophagy, organelles and ageing. The Journal of Pathology 2007;211(2):134-143.
- 46. Walford GA, Moussignac R-L, Scribner AW, Loscalzo J, Leopold JA. Hypoxia Potentiates Nitric Oxide-mediated Apoptosis in Endothelial Cells via Peroxynitrite-induced Activation of Mitochondria-dependent and -independent Pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 2004;279(6):4425-4432.
- 47. Martinet W, Knaapen MWM, De Meyer GRY, Herman AG, Kockx MM. Elevated Levels of Oxidative DNA Damage and DNA Repair Enzymes in Human Atherosclerotic Plaques. Circulation 2002;106(8):927-932.
- 48. Finkel T. Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species in non-phagocytic cells. J Leukoc Biol 1999;65(3):337-340.
- 49. Sykes MC, Mowbray AL, Jo H. Reversible Glutathiolation of Caspase-3 by Glutaredoxin as a Novel Redox Signaling Mechanism in Tumor Necrosis Factor-{alpha}-Induced Cell Death. Circ Res 2007;100(2):152-154.

CHAPTER 4

PRDX1 GENE IS UPREGULATED BY LAMINAR SHEAR STRESS IN PART BY NRF2 TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR

In Chapter 3, we identified Peroxiredoxin 1 as a novel mechanosensitive antioxidant that plays an important role in shear stress-dependent regulation of endothelial biology. In turn, the goal of Specific Aim 3 was to examine the pathway by which laminar shear stress, but not oscillatory shear stress, promotes the expression of PRX1 protein. To achieve this aim, we investigated the regulation of bovine *Prdx1*, the gene encoding PRX 1, in response to different shear stress patterns and a potential transcription factor, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-related factor 2 (Nrf2).

Summary

Endothelial cells (EC) exposed to oscillatory shear stress (OS) experience oxidative stress as a signature of atherosclerosis. Conversely, unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS) reduces reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels. Previous studies by our group have found that fluid flow stimulates these important functional changes through gene and protein expression regulation. More specifically, others have shown that LS induces many protective genes via a shear-sensitive antioxidant response element (ARE). Peroxiredoxins (PRX) are a family of antioxidant enzymes that remain understudied in the field of endothelial cell biology. Recently, we showed that the protein Peroxiredoxin 1 (PRX 1) is upregulated intracellularly by chronic LS, compared to OS and static (ST) culture. In addition, PRX 1-knockdown attenuated LS-dependent ROS reduction in EC. Therefore, in this study, we hypothesized that shear-dependent PRX 1 expression may be regulated by the ARE through its transcription factor nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-related factor 2 (Nrf2). Quantitative, real-time PCR indicated that LS increases *Prdx1*

mRNA in a time-dependent manner, compared to OS and ST. Immunoblots also showed increased PRX 1 protein expression in response to Nrf2 adenovirus infection. In addition, depletion of Nrf2 using specific siRNAs reduced *Prdx1* expression both under static culture conditions and in response to LS. These results indicate that shear-dependent PRX 1 expression is regulated at the transcriptional level, and Nrf2 may play an important role in this mechanism.

Introduction

Shear stress produced by blood flow plays a critical role in the focal development of atherosclerosis. At the cellular level, the exposed endothelium acts as sensor of this force, translating it into physiological or pathophysiological functions¹. In general, unidirectional laminar shear stress promotes an atheroprotective endothelial phenotype, while low, oscillatory shear stress stimulates atherogenic responses²⁻⁴. It is well established that OS induces oxidative stress and inflammation via production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) like superoxide (O_2^{-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)^{2, 5, 6}. In contrast, steady LS prevents inflammation and macromolecule damage by maintaining low ROS levels in endothelial cells^{7, 8}. Our group has demonstrated that this intracellular redox balance is critically dependent on shear stress-mediated gene and protein regulation. In previous publications, we have shown that OS increases O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 through gene and protein expression of the cytokine Bone Morphogenic Protein 4 (BMP4)^{9, 10}. Similarly, numerous studies suggest that steady laminar flow promotes a reducing environment in endothelial cells through the generation of antioxidants³.

Antioxidant defense systems are crucial to the modulation of intracellular levels of ROS. They can directly scavenge ROS and disrupt the oxidative signaling cascades of pathological events such as inflammation, proliferation, and apoptosis^{11, 12}. The peroxiredoxins (PRX) are a newly identified family of antioxidant enzymes that use redox-active cysteines to reduce peroxides and eliminate ONOO⁻. Based on conserved cysteine residues, six isoforms of peroxiredoxin (PRX 1-6) have been identified in mammalian systems^{13, 14}. Recently, we examined the expression of all six PRX family members in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) exposed to shear stress. Our data revealed that PRX 1 expression was elevated in response to LS, but not OS, and that this increase significantly influenced hydrogen peroxide levels¹⁵. However, we have yet to identify the pathway by which atheroprotective laminar shear stress stimulates PRX 1 protein production.

Interestingly, laminar shear stress has been found to influence other antioxidants including heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), ferritin heavy chains (FTH), NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1), glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit (GCLM), thioredoxin reductase1 (TXNRD1), glutathione reductase (GSR), endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione (GSH) and thioredoxin (TRX)^{3, 6-8, 16-18}. Many of these genes are regulated through a conserved antioxidant response element (ARE) or ARE-like transcriptional regulatory sequence in their promoter^{7, 11, 18}. The ARE, also known as the electrophile response element (EpRE), is a *cis*-acting DNA regulatory element with a core sequence of 5'-RTGACNNNGC-3'^{11, 19, 20}. Transcription factor NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a basic leucine zipper protein (bZIP), activates the ARE and its downstream genes by binding to this consensus sequence. Expectedly, several reports have shown that the ARE itself is sensitive to laminar shear stress, suggesting a conserved mechanism for the induction of cytoprotective, mechanosensitive factors^{19, 21}.

As such, we tested the hypothesis that laminar shear stress promotes the expression of PRX 1 protein via transcriptional regulation of the *Prdx1* gene, through an ARE-dependent pathway. Our studies found that the bovine *Prdx1* is upregulated by LS in a temporal manner compared to OS and static controls, and that *Prdx1* mRNA stability is not affected by shear. In addition, overexpression and knockdown of Nrf2 significantly induced and blunted *Prdx1* gene expression, respectively.

Materials and Methods

Endothelial Cell Culture

Bovine aortic endothelial cells were obtained from Cell Applications Inc. Cells were maintained in a standard humidified incubator (37°C, 5% CO₂) in Dulbecco's minimum Eagle's medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta Biologicals), heparin sodium (American Pharmaceutical Partners), endothelial cell growth supplement (isolated by us), and minimum non-essential amino acids (Gibco). BAEC from passage 6-15 were used in the following experimental protocols.

Shear Stress Studies

BAEC were grown to confluent monolayers in 100 mm tissue culture dishes (Falcon) and were subsequently exposed to static (ST) culture conditions or arterial levels of shear stress via cone-and-plate shear apparatus. Atheroprotective LS at 15 dynes/cm² was simulated by rotating a Teflon cone (0.5° cone angle) unidirectionally in medium as previously described by us²². To mimic unstable atherogenic OS, the cone was rotated bidirectionally in medium using a stepping motor (Servo Motor) and computer program (DC Motor Company). Endothelial cells were exposed to OS at ±5 dynes/cm² with directional changes of flow at 1 Hz frequency⁹. All shear stress studies were performed

in low serum (0.5% FBS) growth medium, and shear stress exposure time was varied from 2 to 24 hours.

Reverse Transcription and Quantitative, Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Total RNA was isolated using an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) and reverse transcribed with random primers and a Superscript-II kit (Invitrogen) to synthesize first-strand cDNA. The purified cDNA was amplified via quantitative, real-time PCR with a LightCycler (Roche Reactions were performed in glass capillaries (Roche Applied Applied Science). Science) containing PCR buffer (20mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.4), 3mM MgCl₂, 250µg/ml bovine serum albumin, 200µM deoxynucleotides, SYBR green (1:84,000 dilution), 0.05unit/µl Tag DNA polymerase (Denville), and Tag Start antibody (Clontech, 1:100 dilution). The following primer pairs (5'to 3') and reaction conditions (primer concentration, annealing temperature, extension time, and base pair yield, respectively) were used to amplify bovine Prdx1forward: GACCCATGAACATTCCCTTG and reverse: GCTCTTCTGGACATCAGGCTTGAT (150nM, 62°C, 12 seconds, 283bp) and bovine Nrf2forward: TGCCACTGCTGTTTTAGACG and reverse: ACTGGCTGGAGTCTTCAGTGGAAA (250nM, 60°C, 12 seconds, 280bp). Copy numbers were determined based on standard curves generated with bovine PRX1, Nrf2, and 18S templates. PRX1 and Nrf2 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers, and gene products were verified by size via agarose gel electrophoresis.

Prdx1 mRNA Stability

Following exposure to chronic shear stress, conditioned BAEC were treated with the RNA polymerase II inhibitor 5,6-dichloro-1-β-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole (10µM DRB,

Calbiochem) to halt RNA synthesis. Copy number of *Prdx1* mRNA was assessed via quantitative, real time PCR at 0, 4, 8, and 12 hours after treatment.

Plasmid Construction

A 1,350 base pair fragment of the bovine *Prdx1* promoter was isolated via PCR. An *Xhol* site was added to the 5' primer and a *HindIII* site was added to the 3' primerforward: CGG<u>CTCGAG</u>TGGGCTCCTGTTTCCTATTC and reverse: CGG<u>AAGCTT</u>AATCACCGCTTTCTGCTTGT. The PCR product was digested with *Xhol/HindIII*, gel-isolated, and subcloned into either pGL3-Basic (Promega) upstream of the luciferase reporter or β -CAT-pSP72 (Promega) upstream of the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter. The sequences off all constructs were verified by DNA sequencing in both directions (Agencourt).

Transfection and Reporter Gene Assay

Transient luciferase reporter assays were performed using standard transfection methods. Briefly, plasmid constructs (4.5µg of either pGL3 control or *Prdx1* promoter-pGL3 and 1.5 µg of β -galactosidase normalizing vecotor) were transfected into 90% confluent BAEC using Metafectene Pro (Biontex) in reduced-serum Opti-MEM (Glbco) according to manufacturer's recommendation. After 4 hours, media was replaced with growth media containing 10% FBS. Cells were allowed to recover up to 48 hours and then were subjected an additional 6 hours of shear stress. Luciferase activities were measured using the luciferase assay system (Promega), and β -galactosidase activities were assessed via plate reader (420nm). Luciferase activities were normalized to β -galactosidase activities.

Adenoviral Infection

BAEC were infected with either control green fluorescent protein (Ad-GFP, 20 MOI) or wild type human Nrf2 adenovirus (Ad-wt hNrf2, GFP-tagged, 20, 40, 80 MOI) in serum-free Dulbecco's minimum Eagle's medium. After 6 hours, media was removed and replaced with 10% FBS growth media. Cells were allowed to recover up to 48 hours and then were lysed for protein collection.

Preparation of Whole Cell Lysate

Following experimental treatment, cells were washed three times with ice cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and lysed with 600 μ L lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 4°C, 1% Nonidet P40, 0.25% Na-deoxycholate, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 30 mM NaF, 40 mM ß-glycerophosphate, 10 mM Na₄P₂O₇, 2 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM PMSF, 0.1% SDS). The lysate was further homogenized by sonication. The protein content of each sample was determined by Bio-Rad DC assay.

Immunoblotting

Aliquots of cell lysate (20-40 µg of protein each) were resolved by size on 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and subsequently transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Millipore). The membrane was incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C, followed by incubation with an alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. Protein expression was detected by a chemiluminescence method²³. Primary antibodies specific for PRX 1 (Lab Frontier) and Nrf2 (C-20, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) were used.

Small Interfering RNA (siRNA)

Annealed siRNA duplexes and Oligofectamine (Invitrogen) transfection agent were applied to BAEC per manufacturer's recommendation. In brief, 70-80% confluent BAEC were transfected with control or specific siRNA in reduced-serum Opti-MEM (Glbco). After 6 hours, media was supplemented to 10% FBS. Cells were allowed to recover up to 48 hours, then were lysed, or subjected an additional 24 hours of shear stress. Control non-silencing siRNA sense: 5'-UUCUCCGAACGUGUCACGUtt, antisense: 5'-ACGUGACACGUUCGGAGAAtt (Qiagen), Alexa Fluor 546-labeled control non-silencing siRNA (Qiagen), and bovine Nrf2 siRNA sense: 5'- CCAGACCACUCAGUGGAAUtt, antisense: 5'- AUUCCACUGAGUGGUCUGGtt (MWG) were used.

Statistical Analysis

For all quantitative data collected, statistical analysis was performed by Student's t test. Significance is defined as p<0.05 for three or more independent experiments.

Results

Prdx1 gene is upregulated by LS in a time-dependent manner.

Recent work by our group linked the atheroprotective effects of laminar shear stress to the antioxidant protein PRX 1. In previous studies, we showed that intracellular PRX 1 is significantly increased by LS compared to OS and mediates hydrogen peroxide levels in endothelial cells¹⁵. To further investigate these findings, we sought to examine the pathway by which different shear stress patterns regulate PRX 1 protein expression. As such, *in vitro* shear stress studies were carried out, and bovine *Prdx1*, the gene encoding PRX 1 protein, was assessed. Total RNA was collected from BAEC following static culture, or 2, 4, 8 or 24 hours of LS (15dynes/cm²) or OS (±5dynes/cm²). Quantitative, real time PCR was used to determine *Prdx1* mRNA copy number relative to

the internal control 18S. Here, we found that *Prdx1* increased in a time-dependent manner in response to laminar shear stress (Figure 4.1). With as little as 2 hours of LS exposure, *Prdx1* levels were elevated compared to static control. Additionally, LS-induced expression was statistically different from OS beginning at 4 hours and peaked at 24 hours with a 4.5 fold increase. This shear stress-mediated regulation of *Prdx1* mRNA and the temporal nature of expression led us to believe that PRX 1 protein was likely regulated at the transcriptional level (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Prdx1 mRNA is upregulated by LS compared to OS in a time-dependent manner. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 2, 4, 8, or 24h. Total RNA was collected and reverse-transcribed to synthesize first-strand cDNA, which was amplified via real-time, quantitative PCR. mRNA copy numbers were determined based on standard curves generated with bovine Prdx1 and 18S templates. Prdx1 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers. Prdx1 mRNA levels (mean <u>+</u> SEM, n=3-15) are shown in bar graphs as % of static control. * p<0.05 designate significance between indicated groups.

LS does not affect the mRNA stability of Prdx1.

To verify that increased *Prdx1* levels were due to active transcription, as opposed to mRNA stabilization, we evaluated the degradation rate of *Prdx1* mRNA following *in vitro* shear stress. In these experiments, BAEC were conditioned for 1 day with static culture, LS, or OS. Transcription was then halted using the RNA polymerase II inhibitor DRB. mRNA levels were examined at time points between 0 and 12 hours following DRB treatment using quantitative, real time PCR. Under static culture, *Prdx1* mRNA levels fell to roughly 60% after 8 hours (Figure 4.2). Interestingly, conditioning with neither LS, nor OS, affected this rate of mRNA degradation. These results suggested that LS promotes production of the *Prdx1* transcript, rather than protection of mRNA by polyadnenylation or other factors.



Figure 4.2 Prdx1 mRNA stability is not affected by shear stress. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 24h. Following shear stress, cells were treated with the RNA polymerase II inhibitor DRB (10μ M) to stop transcription. Total RNA was collected and purified cDNA was amplified via real-time, quantitative PCR as in Figure 4.1. Prdx1 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers. Prdx1 mRNA levels (mean <u>+</u> SEM, n=3-15) are shown in line graphs as % of time 0 hour for each group.

Bovine Prdx1 promoter is functional in BAEC.

Thus far, we demonstrated that *Prdx1* mRNA is upregulated in response to LS, but that this increase is not a product of mRNA stabilization. Together, these results suggested that the *Prdx1* expression mediated by shear stress is controlled at that transcriptional level. To further investigate this hypothesis, the 5' 1.4-kb region upstream of the bovine *Prdx1* gene was cloned into either luciferase or CAT reporter constructs. In validation studies, *Prdx1* promoter-luciferase vector was transfected into BAEC, and luciferase activities were assessed following 6 hours of ST, LS, or OS. Cells containing *Prdx1* promoter possessed significantly more luciferase activity then those with empty vector controls. In addition, LS appeared to decrease activity in promoter groups, inconsistent with our previous findings (Figure 4.3). However, this phenomenon occurred in control groups as well, and it has been widely reported that nitric oxide (NO) inhibits luciferase activity by decreasing luciferase mRNA stability²⁴. LS is a potent stimulator of NO suggesting that atheroprotective shear itself reduces luciferase activity, independent of promoter activation²⁵. Taken together, these data indicated that our promoter construct is functional and can best be used in further assays with a CAT reporter system.



Figure 4.3 Prdx1 promoter is functional in BAEC. BAEC were transfected with either control pGL3 or Prdx1 promoter-pGL3 for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 6 hours. Luciferase activity was measured, normalized to β -galactosidase internal control, and is represented in bar graphs as % of static control transfected with Prdx1 promoter.

The bovine Prdx1 promoter region contains a Nrf2 binding site.

Due to the limited information on transcriptional regulation of bovine *Prdx1*, we also carried out computer-based sequence analysis to identify potential transcription factors in the promoter region of this gene. Approximately 2 kb of genomic sequence, upstream of bovine *Prdx1*, were retrieved in *FASTA* format from the UCSC Genome Browser (http://genome.ucsc.edu)^{26, 27}. This sequence was analyzed using TFSEARCH (Version 1.3) software for highly correlated sequence fragments in the TFMATRIX transcription factor binding site profile database (http://www.cbrc.jp/research/db/TFSEARCH.html)^{28, 29}.

Employing a 95 point scoring threshold for vertebrate matrices, we discovered a single NF-E2-related factor 2 binding site located 160bp upstream of the transcription start site (Figure 4.4)³⁰. Based on these findings and previous studies of the ARE binding site, we hypothesized that Nrf2 might be an important regulator of *Prdx1* in endothelial cells.





Nrf2 induces PRX 1 expression under static culture conditions.

Our work has shown that LS, but not OS or ST, upregulates both *Prdx1* gene and its product PRX 1 protein¹⁵. To assess Nrf2's capability to stimulate this event, we first attempted to induce PRX 1 production during static culture via exogenous Nrf2 protein expression. In these studies, static BAEC were infected with either GFP adenovirus as a control or wild type human Nrf2 (GFP-tagged) adenovirus to overexpress Nrf2 protein. Immunofluorescence imaging of GFP was used to examine infection efficiency, and Western blot with Nrf2- and PRX 1-specific antibodies revealed adenovirus effectiveness and PRX 1 protein expression. Compared to Ad-GFP (20 MOI), Ad-wt hNrf2 increased

both Nrf2 and PRX 1 in a dose-dependent manner in endothelial cells (Figure 4.5). This data indicated that the transcription factor Nrf2 is able to promote PRX 1 protein expression under basal conditions and may contribute to shear stress-dependent transcription of *Prdx1*. However, further work was necessary to establish whether Nrf2 is required for LS-induced upregulation of bovine *Prdx1* gene.



Figure 4.5. Nrf2 stimulated PRX 1 expression in static cultured cells. BAEC were infected with either GFP or hNrf2 Adenovirus (Ad) at indicated concentrations for 48 hours. Intracellular protein was analyzed by Western blot using antibodies specific to Nrf2 and PRX 1.

Nrf2 contributes in part to LS-induced Prdx1 expression.

The depletion of Nrf2 from cellular systems provides a useful tool to study its functional role in endothelial cells. In the following experiments, specific siRNA was used to knockdown Nrf2 in order to investigate Prdx1 expression in BAEC. Quantitative, real-time PCR with *Nrf2-* and *Prdx1*-specific primers was used to determine the efficacy of this siRNA, as well as the effect on basal *Prdx1* levels. Compared to non-silencing siRNA and Alexa Fluor 546-labeled non-silencing siRNA (50 nM each), 48 hour-treatment of BAEC with Nrf2 siRNA dramatically reduced (by 70% of non-silencing control) expression of *Nrf2* mRNA, at a concentration as low as 20nM (Figure 4.6A). In

addition, Nrf2 siRNA also decreased *Prdx1* mRNA by 40-50% of controls at all doses (Figure 4.6B). In conjunction with data from adenovirus experiments, these findings provided further support for Nrf2's role in PRX 1 regulation and suggested that Nrf2 may be important to *Prdx1* expression even under static conditions. Furthermore, we were able to perform subsequent studies using Nrf2 siRNA at 20nM concentration with confidence.

To determine whether Nrf2 is responsible for the LS-dependent increase in *Prdx1* levels in BAEC, we knocked down Nrf2 using Nrf2 siRNA as indicated above (Figure 4.6A). Nrf2 depletion significantly decreased *Prdx1* mRNA in both LS- and OS-treated cells (Figure 4.7A). However, after 72 hours of treatment (48 hours transfection, followed by 24 hours of shear stress), *Nrf2* levels were reduced only 40-50% (Figure 4.7B). Despite this reduced knockdown of Nrf2, the results of these studies indicated that Nrf2 contributes in part to both the basal and LS-mediated expression of *Prdx1*.



Figure 4.6 Nrf2 siRNA inhibits Nrf2 mRNA and reduces expression of Prdx1 gene in static cultured cells. BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing (NS), Alexalabeled non-silencing (A) or Nrf2 siRNA at indicated concentrations for 48 hours. Total RNA was collected and reverse-transcribed to synthesize first-strand cDNA, which was amplified via real-time, quantitative PCR. mRNA copy numbers were determined based on standard curves generated with bovine Prdx1, bovine Nrf2 and 18S templates. Nrf2 and Prdx1 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers. Nrf2 and Prdx1 mRNA levels (mean <u>+</u> SEM, n=12) are shown in bar graphs as % of nonsilencing siRNA-treated control. * p<0.05 designate significance between indicated groups.



Figure 4.7 Nrf2 knockdown reduces Prdx1 expression in response to LS. BAEC were transfected with either non-silencing (NS) or Nrf2 siRNA (20nM) for 48 hours and then exposed to ST, LS, or OS for 24 hours. Total RNA was collected and cDNA was amplified via real-time, quantitative PCR as in Figure 4.5. Nrf2 and Prdx1 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers. Nrf2 and Prdx1 mRNA levels (mean <u>+</u> SEM, n=12) are shown in bar graphs as % of non-silencing siRNA-treated static control. * p<0.05 designate significance between indicated groups.

Discussion

Through gene expression and siRNA depletion studies, we have discovered that: (1) LS upregulates *Prdx1* gene in a time-dependent manner compared to both OS and static culture conditions, but (2) this increase in expression is not due to stabilization of *Prdx1* mRNA; (3) The bovine *Prdx1* promoter region contains a Nrf2 binding site, and (4) Nrf2 overexpression promotes basal PRX 1 protein production, while (5) Nrf2 knockdown reduces *Prdx1* mRNA following exposure to LS. Collectively, these results suggest that laminar shear stress affects PRX 1 by inducing the *Prdx1* gene, in part via the transcription factor Nrf2.

Recent findings by our group showed that intracellular PRX 1 protein is upregulated by chronic laminar shear stress in BAEC and plays a crucial part in shear stress-dependent hydrogen peroxide diminution¹⁵. Through the current study, we sought to investigate the pathway by which LS promotes PRX 1 expression. The observed rise in protein generation could occur via several mechanisms, including increased transcription, mRNA stabilization, and augmented translation. As illustrated in Figure 4.1, the elevation of *Prdx1* mRNA levels suggested that PRX 1 expression is transcriptionally regulated. The time-dependent nature of this response and the lack of mRNA stabilization by shear stress indicated that mRNA is being produced in response to LS over the course of hours (Figure 4.2).

Several reports have demonstrated that other cytoprotective genes are also induced by laminar shear stress in endothelial cells. Chen et al. discovered NQO1, HO-1, microsomal epoxide hydrolase, glutathione *S*-transferase (GST), ferritin, and γ -glutamylcysteine synthase as targets of laminar flow in human aortic endothelial cells and human microvascular endothelial cells¹⁹. Work by Dai et al. also identified NQO1,

HO-1, and ferritin, as well as GSR, GCLM, and TXNRD1, as genes promoted by atheroprotective, but not atheroprone, flow in human umbilical vein endothelial cells²¹. The common thread amongst these phase II detoxification and antioxidant genes is the presence of an antioxidant response element (ARE) in their 5' flanking regions³¹⁻³³. This ARE is activated by cellular exposure to insults that induce oxidative stress, including hydrogen peroxide, ionizing radiation, and a variety of chemical compounds³⁴. Recently, it has also been shown to respond to chronic, steady laminar shear stress through its transcription factor Nrf2^{19, 21, 35}.

Although the mechanism of shear stress-mediated Nrf2 induction remains controversial, the conserved nature of the ARE/Nrf2 sequence in cytoprotective, mechanosensitive genes suggested that it may also be important to the regulation of PRX 1 (Figure B.1)^{21, ³⁵. Interestingly, analysis of the bovine *Prdx1* promoter revealed a Nrf2 binding region 160bp upstream of the transcription start site. Further investigation also found that overexpression of Nrf2 stimulated the production of intracellular PRX 1 protein, while Nrf2 depletion significantly reduced transcription of *Prdx1* mRNA in response to LS, as well as static conditions and OS. Together these results suggested that Nrf2 is an important contributor to both basal and shear stress-mediate PRX 1 production.}

In support of our findings, studies in other cell types have also linked the ARE/Nrf2 system to PRX 1 expression. Ishii et al. showed PRX 1 to be induced by Nrf2 via oxidative stress. In peritoneal macrophages from Nrf2-deficient mice, PRX 1 generation was blunted in response to stress agents such as paraquat and $CdCl_2^{36}$. Additionally, other work found nuclear translocation of Nrf2 promoted human *Prdx1* gene expression in cancer cells exposed hypoxia/reoxygenation²⁰.

However, in the current study, Nrf2 knockdown did not fully abolish the LS-mediated upregulation of *Prdx1* mRNA (Figure 4.7A). These findings may be a product of reduced Nrf2 siRNA efficacy (less than 50% reduction at 3 days), or these data may imply that Nrf2 is not the only factor relevant to *Prdx1* transcription. Tumor promoters such as 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) have been found to activate transcription factor AP-1 sites in the rat *prx1* promoter of macrophages and monocytes³⁷. Our analysis of genomic sequence upstream of bovine *Prdx1* also identified several AP-1 binding sequences in its promoter region. Consistent with the action of PRX 1 in BAEC, AP-1-regulated genes allow cells to respond oxidative stress³⁸. Additional studies with the bovine *Prdx1* promoter-CAT construct will allow for further investigation of Nrf2, AP-1, and other transcription factor binding sites. In addition, recent work by Diet et al. showed that PRX 1 and 6 are controlled by endogenously-produced NO in macrophages³⁹. It is well established that endothelial cells generate NO in response to LS^{25, 40}. This may represent a supplementary pathway for shear stress-dependent PRX 1 expression in BAEC.

In summary, we have shown that laminar shear stress promotes the expression of bovine *Prdx1*, and that transcription factor Nrf2 may contribute to this important pathway. Furthermore, this discovery of *Prdx1* gene as a mechanosensitive transcript may contribute critical insights into endothelial cell biology and therapeutics for vascular diseases.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by funding from National Institute of Health grants HL75209, HL87012, and HL80711 (HJ), as well as an American Heart Association pre-doctoral fellowship (ALM). Wild type human Nrf2 adenovirus was a generous gift from Dr. Xi-Lin

Chen at AtheroGenics, Inc. We would also like to thank Dr. Seth Brodie, Dr. Kyung Hwa Chang, Dr. Hannah Song, Dr. Mamta Patel, Chih Wen Ni, and Dr. Sarah Tressel at Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University for helpful comments during these studies.

References

- 1. Hajra L, Evans AI, Chen M, Hyduk SJ, Collins T, Cybulsky MI. The NF-kappa B signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97(16):9052-7.
- 2. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):7A-11A.
- 3. Berk BC. Atheroprotective Signaling Mechanisms Activated by Steady Laminar Flow in Endothelial Cells. Circulation 2008;117(8):1082-1089.
- 4. Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar Shear Stress : Mechanisms by Which Endothelial Cells Transduce an Atheroprotective Force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18(5):677-685.
- 5. McNally JS, Davis ME, Giddens DP, Saha A, Hwang J, Dikalov S, et al. Role of xanthine oxidoreductase and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial superoxide production in response to oscillatory shear stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2003;285(6):H2290-7.
- 6. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and Steady Laminar Shear Stress Differentially Affect Human Endothelial Redox State : Role of a Superoxide-Producing NADH Oxidase. Circ Res 1998;82(10):1094-1101.
- 7. Chen X-L, Dodd G, Thomas S, Zhang X, Wasserman MA, Rovin BH, et al. Activation of Nrf2/ARE pathway protects endothelial cells from oxidant injury and inhibits inflammatory gene expression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;290(5):H1862-1870.
- 8. Harrison DG, Widder J, Grumbach I, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C. Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. Journal of Internal Medicine 2006;259(4):351-363.
- 9. Sorescu GP, Sykes M, Weiss D, Platt MO, Saha A, Hwang J, et al. Bone morphogenic protein 4 produced in endothelial cells by oscillatory shear stress stimulates an inflammatory response. J Biol Chem 2003;278(33):31128-35.
- 10. Sorescu GP, Song H, Tressel SL, Hwang J, Dikalov S, Smith DA, et al. Bone Morphogenic Protein 4 Produced in Endothelial Cells by Oscillatory Shear Stress

Induces Monocyte Adhesion by Stimulating Reactive Oxygen Species Production From a Nox1-Based NADPH Oxidase. Circ Res 2004;95(8):773-779.

- 11. Chen XL, Kunsch C. Induction of cytoprotective genes through Nrf2/antioxidant response element pathway: a new therapeutic approach for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Curr Pharm Des 2004;10(8):879-91.
- 12. Fujii J, and Ikeda, Yoshitaka. Advances in our understanding of peroxiredoxin, a multifunctional, mammalian redox protein. Redox Report 2002;7(3):123-130.
- 13. Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 2005;38(12):1543-52.
- 14. Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB. Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 2003;28(1):32-40.
- 15. Mowbray AL, Kang DH, Rhee SG, Kang SW, Jo H. Laminar shear stress upregulates peroxiredoxins (PRX) in endothelial cells: PRX 1 as a mechanosensitive antioxidant. J Biol Chem 2008;283(3):1622-7.
- 16. Yamawaki H, Pan S, Lee RT, Berk BC. Fluid shear stress inhibits vascular inflammation by decreasing thioredoxin-interacting protein in endothelial cells. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(3):733-8.
- 17. Topper JN, Cai J, Falb D, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Identification of vascular endothelial genes differentially responsive to fluid mechanical stimuli: Cyclooxygenase-2, manganese superoxide dismutase, and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase are selectively up-regulated by steady laminar shear stress. PNAS 1996;93(19):10417-10422.
- 18. Warabi E, Takabe W, Minami T, Inoue K, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, et al. Shear stress stabilizes NF-E2-related factor 2 and induces antioxidant genes in endothelial cells: Role of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2007;42(2):260-269.
- 19. Chen XL, Varner SE, Rao AS, Grey JY, Thomas S, Cook CK, et al. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Biol Chem 2003;278(2):703-11.

- 20. Kim Y-J, Ahn J-Y, Liang P, Ip C, Zhang Y, Park Y-M. Human prx1 Gene Is a Target of Nrf2 and Is Up-regulated by Hypoxia/Reoxygenation: Implication to Tumor Biology. Cancer Res 2007;67(2):546-554.
- 21. Dai G, Vaughn S, Zhang Y, Wang ET, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical Forces in Atherosclerosis-Resistant Vascular Regions Regulate Endothelial Redox Balance via Phosphoinositol 3-Kinase/Akt-Dependent Activation of Nrf2. Circ Res 2007;101(7):723-733.
- 22. Go YM, Boo YC, Park H, Maland MC, Patel R, Pritchard KA, Jr., et al. Protein kinase B/Akt activates c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase by increasing NO production in response to shear stress. J Appl Physiol 2001;91(4):1574-81.
- 23. Boo YC, Sorescu G, Boyd N, Shiojima I, Walsh K, Du J, et al. Shear stress stimulates phosphorylation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase at Ser1179 by Akt-independent mechanisms: role of protein kinase A. J Biol Chem 2002;277(5):3388-96.
- 24. Fan X, Roy E, Zhu L, Murphy TC, Kozlowski M, Nanes MS, et al. Nitric oxide donors inhibit luciferase expression in a promoter-independent fashion. J Biol Chem 2003;278(12):10232-8.
- 25. Nerem RM, Harrison DG, Taylor WR, Alexander RW. Hemodynamics and vascular endothelial biology. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993;21 Suppl 1:S6-10.
- 26. Kent WJ, Sugnet CW, Furey TS, Roskin KM, Pringle TH, Zahler AM, et al. The human genome browser at UCSC. Genome Res 2002;12(6):996-1006.
- 27. Karolchik D, Baertsch R, Diekhans M, Furey TS, Hinrichs A, Lu YT, et al. The UCSC Genome Browser Database. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31(1):51-4.
- 28. Akiyama Y. TFSEARCH: Searching Transcription Factor Binding Sites. In; 1995.
- 29. Heinemeyer T, Wingender E, Reuter I, Hermjakob H, Kel AE, Kel OV, et al. Databases on transcriptional regulation: TRANSFAC, TRRD and COMPEL. Nucleic Acids Res 1998;26(1):362-7.
- 30. Andrews NC, Erdjument-Bromage H, Davidson MB, Tempst P, Orkin SH. Erythroid transcription factor NF-E2 is a haematopoietic-specific basic-leucine zipper protein. Nature 1993;362(6422):722-8.

- 31. Primiano T, Sutter TR, Kensler TW. Antioxidant-inducible genes. Adv Pharmacol 1997;38:293-328.
- 32. Prestera T, Talalay P. Electrophile and antioxidant regulation of enzymes that detoxify carcinogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92(19):8965-9.
- 33. Jaiswal AK. Regulation of genes encoding NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductases. Free Radic Biol Med 2000;29(3-4):254-62.
- 34. Jaiswal AK. Antioxidant response element. Biochem Pharmacol 1994;48(3):439-44.
- 35. Hosoya T, Maruyama A, Kang M-I, Kawatani Y, Shibata T, Uchida K, et al. Differential Responses of the Nrf2-Keap1 System to Laminar and Oscillatory Shear Stresses in Endothelial Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2005;280(29):27244-27250.
- Ishii T, Itoh K, Takahashi S, Sato H, Yanagawa T, Katoh Y, et al. Transcription Factor Nrf2 Coordinately Regulates a Group of Oxidative Stress-inducible Genes in Macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 2000;275(21):16023-16029.
- Hess A, Wijayanti N, Neuschafer-Rube AP, Katz N, Kietzmann T, Immenschuh S. Phorbol ester-dependent activation of peroxiredoxin I gene expression via a protein kinase C, Ras, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 2003;278(46):45419-34.
- 38. Liu H, Colavitti R, Rovira II, Finkel T. Redox-Dependent Transcriptional Regulation. Circ Res 2005;97(10):967-974.
- Diet A, Abbas K, Bouton C, Guillon B, Tomasello F, Fourquet S, et al. Regulation of peroxiredoxins by nitric oxide in immunostimulated macrophages. J Biol Chem 2007;282(50):36199-205.
- 40. Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Chappell DC, Medford RM, Varner SE, Taylor WR. The study of the influence of flow on vascular endothelial biology. Am J Med Sci 1998;316(3):169-75.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

Summary and Conclusions

In the United States alone, cardiovascular disease kills nearly 2600 people each day; its primary cause, atherosclerosis, affects millions of Americans each year¹. Despite the localized nature of plaque formation in the arterial tree, preventative pharmaceutical treatments remain limited to drugs targeting systemic risk factors. In order to address the hemodynamic components of atherosclerosis development, recent work has focused on the mechanosensitive endothelium to establish new pathological mechanisms. Understanding how unidirectional, laminar blood flow protects vessels from atherogenesis, while disturbed, oscillatory blood flow promotes it, will provide enormous insight into direct therapeutic approaches for cardiovascular disease intervention.

The overall *objective* of this dissertation was to study the effects of atherogenic and atheroprotective fluid flow profiles on the mammalian antioxidants peroxiredoxins, and to identify mechanosensitive family members playing a role in redox regulation. By understanding how peroxiredoxins are regulated and what roles they play physiologically, we will have better insight into endothelial cell (EC) biology and redox-sensitive mechanisms of vascular diseases. The *central hypothesis* of this project was that *unidirectional laminar shear stress (LS), compared to disturbed oscillatory shear stress (OS), promotes increased expression of peroxiredoxins (PRX) via transcriptional regulation, which in turn influences the balance of reactive oxygen species in endothelial cells. This hypothesis was tested according to three specific aims using cellular, molecular, and biochemical studies of bovine aortic endothelial cells:*

- Specific Aim 1: Investigate shear stress-dependent expression and subcellular localization of peroxiredoxin family members in aortic endothelial cells.
- Specific Aim 2: Identify the role of PRX 1 in shear stress-dependent reactive oxygen species regulation.
- Specific Aim 3: Investigate the mechanism of shear stress-dependent PRX 1 expression in aortic endothelial cells.

To achieve these specific aims, we first explored the effects of shear stress on expression of mammalian peroxiredoxin family members. Using an *in vitro* model, the cone-and-plate viscometer, we applied atheroprotective, high, unidirectional laminar shear stress or atherogenic, low, oscillatory shear stress to endothelial cells in culture. Previous studies established that reactive oxygen species (ROS) play a critical role in atheroma formation²⁻⁵. Peroxiredoxins have the ability to regulate ROS by reducing peroxides and eliminating peroxynitrite, but are understudied endothelial cell biology^{6, 7}. Here, we were able to identify all six PRX family members in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC). Furthermore, through this work, we revealed for the first time that PRX are regulated by shear stress in endothelial cells. When compared to OS and static culture, exposure to chronic LS upregulated PRX 1 levels intracellularly. LS also increased expression of PRX 5 relative to static controls, but not OS. Consistent with reports in other cell types, PRX exhibited broad subcellular localization in BAEC, with distribution in the cytoplasm, Golgi, mitochondria, and intermediate filaments^{8, 9}. However, these localization patterns did not appear to change in response to shear

stress. Taken together, our results suggest that distribution of PRX in specific subcellular environments may provide protection against local ROS production and facilitate ROS-mediated signal transduction. Simultaneously, widespread allocation of PRX might also be important for comprehensive management of the overall oxidative state of cells. Moreover, upregulation of PRX 1 by LS may act to reduce ROS levels in EC and prevent atherogenic oxidative stress.

To establish the functional importance of PRX 1 in shear stress-dependent redox balance, we next examined the role of PRX 1 in LS-mediated hydrogen peroxide regulation. Endothelial cells exposed to OS experience oxidative stress as a signature of atherosclerosis. Conversely, chronic LS reduces ROS levels^{2, 4, 5}. Here, we used Amplex Red assay as an independent method to measure ROS levels in BAEC. Consistent with previous reports, OS increased and LS decreased catalase-inhibitable hydrogen peroxide. Subsequently, we investigated whether PRX 1 was responsible for the decreased H₂O₂ levels in endothelial cells exposed to LS. Specific siRNAs were used to knockdown either PRX 1 or PRX 5 protein levels. Using isoform-specific PRX antibodies, we found that these siRNAs had no significant effect on other PRX, indicating that they exclusively targeted PRX 1 or 5, respectively, amongst all PRX family members. Depletion of PRX 1 using siRNA resulted in significantly higher ROS levels in BAEC exposed to LS, OS, and static conditions, while PRX 5 depletion did not. Altogether, these results indicate that chronic exposure to LS upregulates PRX 1 expression in order to keep ROS levels low in endothelial cells.

To identify the pathway by which atheroprotective laminar shear stress stimulates PRX 1 protein production, we undertook additional gene expression and siRNA depletion studies. Several reports have demonstrated that antioxidant genes are induced by

laminar shear stress in endothelial cells^{10, 11}. In line with this, we discovered that LS upregulates *Prdx1* gene in a time-dependent manner compared to OS or static culture. However, this increase in expression was not due to shear stress-dependent stabilization of *Prdx1* mRNA. These findings lead us to believe that *Prdx1* was likely regulated at the transcriptional level. In addition, the antioxidant response element (ARE) has been shown to be conserved amongst several antioxidant genes, and studies showed it responds to chronic, steady laminar shear stress through its transcription factor Nrf2¹⁰⁻¹⁴. Our analysis of the bovine *Prdx1* promoter revealed a Nrf2 binding site 160bp upstream of the gene. Furthermore, Nrf2 overexpression promoted basal PRX 1 protein production, while Nrf2 depletion reduced *Prdx1* mRNA following exposure to LS. Collectively, our work illustrates that laminar shear stress affects PRX 1 by inducing the *Prdx1* gene, in part via the transcription factor Nrf2.

By addressing the three specific aims proposed, this project has developed a comprehensive register of shear stress-dependent peroxiredoxin behavior and discovered a novel mechanosensitive antioxidant that plays an important functional role in redox regulation of endothelial cell biology. This dissertation illustrates how physiologically relevant fluid flow affects reactive oxygen species, through the unique expression of antioxidants, in particular Peroxiredoxin 1 (Figure 5.1). Identifying factors that play an important role in shear stress-dependent oxidative stress could help provide localized therapies at the site of endothelial cell dysfunction. Our findings are relevant to the inflammatory disease atherosclerosis, a major cause of cardiovascular disease. By understanding how PRX1 is regulated and what role it plays in physiology, we can better understand vascular diseases and develop effective preventative therapeutic approaches.



Figure 5.1 Overall summary of project findings

Limitations

There are several limitations to the work performed in this project including, but not restricted to, the following points:

- 1. Use of cultured cells
- 2. Use of bovine aortic endothelial cells
- 3. Use of simulated blood flow conditions
- 4. Assessment of ROS limited to global levels
- 5. Investigation of one potential transcription factor
- 6. In vivo studies limited to future work

In this dissertation, studies were performed solely with an *in vitro* model. To simplify the experimental layout, endothelial cells alone were examined. Unfortunately, cells cultured in a dish likely behave differently from those in body. In the vasculature, endothelial cells are in close proximity to several other cells types, including smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and leukocytes. Studies have previously shown that shear stress promotes the release of factors from the endothelium that directly affects smooth muscle cells and leukocytes¹⁵. Thus, it probable that communication with other cell types equally affects endothelial cell behavior¹⁶.

Here, bovine aortic endothelial cells were chosen to represent the arterial endothelial cells exposed to physiologically significant flow patterns *in vivo*. To directly relate our findings to human pathologies, it would be more appropriate to employ a human endothelial cell line. Many groups have used human umbilical vein endothelial cells in studies similar to ours¹⁷. However, endothelial cells in veins do not typically experience the shear stress profiles found in large arteries, and as a result, may be conditioned to respond differently. Although human aortic endothelial cells are available, BAEC offer

considerable ease of culture and should experience somewhat similar fluid flow patterns *in vivo*.

To evaluate shear stress-dependent endothelial cell behavior, we utilized a cone-andplate viscometer. As previously described, this system provides a simplified, welldefined simulation of hemodynamic environments. In contrast, the fluid flow endothelial cells experience *in vivo* is much more complex. This *in vitro* model fails to account for the pulsatility of blood flow generated by the heart, as well as normal pressure and cyclic stretch EC might perceive in an *in vivo* mechanical environment¹⁸. Although many others have shown that *in vitro* shear systems convincingly recapitulate *in vivo* findings, it remains possible that some responses may be different^{19, 20}.

Beyond the *in vitro* aspect of this work, other limitations also constrained our findings. In Chapter 3, we discovered that PRX family members were located throughout the cellular milieu of BAEC. This indicated they may provide protection against local sources of ROS. In subsequent functional experiments, we were only able to assess the overall oxidative state of cells in response to PRX depletion. Currently available techniques do not allow for examination of ROS at specific intracellular organelles, but such studies may be particularly informing with respect to the many PRX family members. In addition, this project explored only a single possible transcription factor for the mechanosensitive *Prdx1* gene. As discussed in Chapter 4, several other candidates exist and should be addressed in further work. Finally, this dissertation did not examine the *in vivo* implications of *in vitro* findings. Future experiments should validate these results in relevant animal models of disease.

Future Directions

The sheer number of peroxiredoxins, and their poor representation in the mechanobiology field, signifies many new opportunities for atherosclerosis research. The findings described in this dissertation have laid the groundwork for additional future studies of Peroxiredoxin 1 in endothelial cells exposed to shear stress. Advancement of this work may focus on both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental approaches.

Signaling pathways

Our finding that laminar shear stress upregulates PRX 1 may be relevant to several signal transduction pathways. Shear stress has been shown to influence a number of important signaling cascades in endothelial cells. MAP kinases including ERK 1/2, JNK, and p38 are differentially affected by fluid flow profiles and affect downstream targets such as eNOS and Akt^{21, 22}. In addition, LS inhibits, while OS promotes, the inflammatory pathway of NF-κB. Previous work has established that PRX 1 is an important regulator of p38 in macrophages exposed to oxidative stress²³. Similarly, PRX 1 affects NF-κB, suppressing NF-κB transcriptional activity, JNK activity and apoptosis induced by TNF- $\alpha^{9, 24}$. Experiments using PRX 1 siRNA would reveal if LS-dependent PRX 1 expression regulates any of these critical pathways in response to shear stress.

In vitro physiological roles

In Chapter 3, we showed that PRX 1 significantly affects the redox state of endothelial cells exposed to shear stress. However, we did not explore the functional endpoint of this role. Reactive oxygen species play an important part in many physiological functions relevant to atherosclerosis, including apoptosis and inflammation. Both of these events are inhibited in endothelial cells exposed to atheroprotective laminar shear stress, and apoptosis has been linked to PRX 1 in cancer cells^{15, 25}. As such, further
work should focus on the shear stress-dependent role of PRX 1 in apoptosis and inflammation of endothelial cells. Analysis of *in vitro* markers such as Annexin V and monocyte attachment, in conjunction with PRX 1 depletion, would provide valuable mechanistic insight into these cellular behaviors.

Transcription factors

Studies in Chapter 4 indicated that fluid flow regulates PRX 1 at the transcriptional level, and Nrf2 contributes in part to the mechanism. Additionally, this work suggested that Nrf2 may not be the only factor promoting Prdx1 expression. As described above, both NO and AP-1 elevate *Prdx1* expression in monocytes and macrophages^{26, 27}. Endothelial cells generate NO in response to atheroprotective shear stress^{16, 28}. Valuable experiments might employ the nitric oxide donor diethylenetriamine NONOate (DETA-NO) to induce Prdx1 expression in static cells or those exposed to OS. In contrast, the NO synthase inhibitor NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) could be used to block LS-dependent transcription. Furthermore, the transcription factor AP-1 is also shear stress responsive and has been implicated in cellular response to oxidative stress^{29, 30}. As previously mentioned, our analysis of genomic sequence upstream of Prdx1 identified several AP-1 binding sequences in its promoter region. We have recently cloned the bovine Prdx1 promoter into both luciferase and chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter vectors. These constructs could be transfected into endothelial cells exposed to LS, OS or static culture. Truncation and mutation studies may reveal the importance of many transcription factor binding sites, including AP-1.

In vivo implications

Ultimately, *in vivo* research must be performed to validate the *in vitro* findings of this project. Preliminary studies in wild type C57BL6 mice suggest that PRX 1 may also be



Figure 5.2 The mouse aortic arch is a model for both LS- and OS-like flow. Following isolation, the arch is embedded, frozen and sectioned as depicted on the right. This allows for examination of both the atheroresistant GC and atheroprone LC regions in the same cross-section. Figure on left reprinted with permission³¹. Copyright © 2007 Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.



Figure 5.3 PRX 1 expression is elevated in the LS-like GC of the aortic arch. Frozen sections of aortic arches from wt C57BL6 mice were stained with PRX 1-specific antibodies and Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated secondary (red). Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst (blue) and elastic lamina autofluorescence is green. L = vessel lumen.

regulated by shear stress in the aorta. As determined by computational fluid dynamics, the mouse aortic arch serves as an excellent model for both unidirectional laminar shear stress and disturbed, oscillatory shear stress (Figure 5.2)³¹. The greater curvature (GC) experiences flow much like *in vitro* LS, while the lesser curvature (LC) is exposed to OS-like conditions. Here, frozen cross-sections of the arch were stained with PRX 1-specific antibodies. Immunofluorescent images revealed elevated PRX 1 expression in the GC region, consistent with our *in vitro* findings in Chapter 3 (Figure 5.3). En face immunostaining will be necessary to confirm these results and verify that PRX 1 staining is endothelial cell specific.

Further studies in animal models will be required to establish the physiological relevance of PRX 1 in atherosclerosis progression. To determine whether endothelial PRX 1 expression correlated with atherosclerotic lesion development, we stained human coronary arteries with various stages of disease. Serial sections of human coronary arteries were stained with both PRX 1- and PECAM-1-specifc antibodies. As illustrated in Figure 5.4, PECAM-1 was used to verify an intact endothelial cell layer in all sections. In low-magnification images (Figure 5.5), PRX 1 was easily detected in the endothelium and medial layer regardless of disease stage. However, expression in the intimal smooth muscle layer tended to decrease as disease progressed. Examination of high-magnification images (Figure 5.6) further supported this phenomenon. Although these findings do not implicate endothelial-derived PRX 1 in plaque development, they are consistent with previous studies of PRX. Work by Choi et al. found that PRX 2 prevents PDGF-dependent smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration in neointimal thickening³². Additional assessment of PRX 1 in this model may reveal a similar function role in smooth muscle cells.

Finally, PRX 1 knockout mice also are available, and erythrocytes and embryonic fibroblasts from these animals contain higher levels of ROS than their wild type counterparts³³. Crossing these mice with ApoE-/- mice, and feeding them high fat diet, will generate a model that is both hyperlipidemic and oxidatively stressed. Atherosclerosis development could be evaluated in these animals using traditional assessment of plaque formation via en face Oil Red O staining, as well as in a shear stress models such as partial carotid ligation or aortic coarctation.

In summary, the future directions of this project should examine the *in vivo* consequences of shear stress and peroxiredoxins in atherosclerosis. By understanding the mechanisms behind plaque formation, important therapies can be developed. Cardiovascular disease is the primary cause of death in the United States. Clarifying the role of antioxidants such as PRX 1 in its progression could provide insight into direct therapeutic approaches for disease intervention.



Figure 5.4 PECAM-1 verifies an intact endothelium in human coronary arteries. Frozen sections from human coronary arteries with various stages of disease were stained with either PRX 1- or PECAM-1- specific antibodies and Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated secondary (red). Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst dye (blue) and elastic lamina autofluorescence is green.



Figure 5.5 PRX 1 expression did not change in the endothelium as disease progressed. Frozen sections from human coronary arteries were stained for PRX 1 (red) as described in Figure 5.5. Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst dye (blue) and elastic lamina autofluorescence is green. Hatched boxes are shown at higher magnification in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6 PRX 1 expression decreased in the intimal smooth muscle with increasing disease progression. Frozen sections from human coronary arteries were stained as described in Figure 5.6. Higher magnification images are shown here according to American Heart Association classification. L = *vessel lumen.*

References

- 1. American Heart Association. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics 2008 Update. In. Dallas, TX: American Heart Association; 2008.
- 2. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 2003;91(3A):7A-11A.
- 3. Harrison DG, Widder J, Grumbach I, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C. Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. Journal of Internal Medicine 2006;259(4):351-363.
- 4. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and Steady Laminar Shear Stress Differentially Affect Human Endothelial Redox State : Role of a Superoxide-Producing NADH Oxidase. Circ Res 1998;82(10):1094-1101.
- 5. McNally JS, Davis ME, Giddens DP, Saha A, Hwang J, Dikalov S, et al. Role of xanthine oxidoreductase and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial superoxide production in response to oscillatory shear stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2003;285(6):H2290-7.
- 6. Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB. Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 2003;28(1):32-40.
- 7. Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 2005;38(12):1543-52.
- 8. Hofmann B, Hecht HJ, Flohe L. Peroxiredoxins. Biol Chem 2002;383(3-4):347-64.
- 9. Kang SW, Chae HZ, Seo MS, Kim K, Baines IC, Rhee SG. Mammalian peroxiredoxin isoforms can reduce hydrogen peroxide generated in response to growth factors and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 1998;273(11):6297-302.
- 10. Chen XL, Varner SE, Rao AS, Grey JY, Thomas S, Cook CK, et al. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Biol Chem 2003;278(2):703-11.

- 11. Dai G, Vaughn S, Zhang Y, Wang ET, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical Forces in Atherosclerosis-Resistant Vascular Regions Regulate Endothelial Redox Balance via Phosphoinositol 3-Kinase/Akt-Dependent Activation of Nrf2. Circ Res 2007;101(7):723-733.
- 12. Primiano T, Sutter TR, Kensler TW. Antioxidant-inducible genes. Adv Pharmacol 1997;38:293-328.
- 13. Hosoya T, Maruyama A, Kang M-I, Kawatani Y, Shibata T, Uchida K, et al. Differential Responses of the Nrf2-Keap1 System to Laminar and Oscillatory Shear Stresses in Endothelial Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2005;280(29):27244-27250.
- 14. Prestera T, Talalay P. Electrophile and antioxidant regulation of enzymes that detoxify carcinogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92(19):8965-9.
- 15. Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar Shear Stress : Mechanisms by Which Endothelial Cells Transduce an Atheroprotective Force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18(5):677-685.
- Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Chappell DC, Medford RM, Varner SE, Taylor WR. The study of the influence of flow on vascular endothelial biology. Am J Med Sci 1998;316(3):169-75.
- 17. Dai G, Kaazempur-Mofrad MR, Natarajan S, Zhang Y, Vaughn S, Blackman BR, et al. Distinct endothelial phenotypes evoked by arterial waveforms derived from atherosclerosis-susceptible and -resistant regions of human vasculature. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101(41):14871-6.
- 18. Papadaki M, Eskin SG. Effects of Fluid Shear Stress on Gene Regulation of Vascular Cells. Biotechnol. Prog. 1997;13(3):209-221.
- 19. Nagel T, Resnick N, Atkinson WJ, Dewey CF, Jr., Gimbrone MA, Jr. Shear stress selectively upregulates intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in cultured human vascular endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 1994;94(2):885-91.
- 20. Chang K, Weiss D, Suo J, Vega JD, Giddens D, Taylor WR, et al. Bone morphogenic protein antagonists are coexpressed with bone morphogenic protein 4 in endothelial cells exposed to unstable flow in vitro in mouse aortas and in human coronary arteries: role of bone morphogenic protein antagonists in inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation 2007;116(11):1258-66.

- 21. Berk BC. Atheroprotective Signaling Mechanisms Activated by Steady Laminar Flow in Endothelial Cells. Circulation 2008;117(8):1082-1089.
- 22. Jo H, Sipos K, Go YM, Law R, Rong J, McDonald JM. Differential effect of shear stress on extracellular signal-regulated kinase and N-terminal Jun kinase in endothelial cells. Gi2- and Gbeta/gamma-dependent signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 1997;272(2):1395-401.
- 23. Conway JP, Kinter M. Dual role of peroxiredoxin I in macrophage-derived foam cells. J Biol Chem 2006;281(38):27991-8001.
- 24. Hansen JM, Moriarty-Craige S, Jones DP. Nuclear and cytoplasmic peroxiredoxin-1 differentially regulate NF-kappaB activities. Free Radic Biol Med 2007;43(2):282-8.
- 25. Kim Y-J, Lee W-S, Ip C, Chae H-Z, Park E-M, Park Y-M. Prx1 Suppresses Radiation-Induced c-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase Signaling in Lung Cancer Cells through Interaction with the Glutathione S-Transferase Pi/c-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase Complex. Cancer Res 2006;66(14):7136-7142.
- 26. Diet A, Abbas K, Bouton C, Guillon B, Tomasello F, Fourquet S, et al. Regulation of peroxiredoxins by nitric oxide in immunostimulated macrophages. J Biol Chem 2007;282(50):36199-205.
- Hess A, Wijayanti N, Neuschafer-Rube AP, Katz N, Kietzmann T, Immenschuh S. Phorbol ester-dependent activation of peroxiredoxin I gene expression via a protein kinase C, Ras, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 2003;278(46):45419-34.
- 28. Nerem RM, Harrison DG, Taylor WR, Alexander RW. Hemodynamics and vascular endothelial biology. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993;21 Suppl 1:S6-10.
- 29. Liu H, Colavitti R, Rovira II, Finkel T. Redox-Dependent Transcriptional Regulation. Circ Res 2005;97(10):967-974.
- 30. Li YS, Haga JH, Chien S. Molecular basis of the effects of shear stress on vascular endothelial cells. J Biomech 2005;38(10):1949-71.
- 31. Suo J, Ferrara DE, Sorescu D, Guldberg RE, Taylor WR, Giddens DP. Hemodynamic shear stresses in mouse aortas: implications for atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007;27(2):346-51.

- 32. Choi MH, Lee IK, Kim GW, Kim BU, Han YH, Yu DY, et al. Regulation of PDGF signalling and vascular remodelling by peroxiredoxin II. Nature 2005;435(7040):347-53.
- 33. Egler RA, Fernandes E, Rothermund K, Sereika S, de Souza-Pinto N, Jaruga P, et al. Regulation of reactive oxygen species, DNA damage, and c-Myc function by peroxiredoxin 1. Oncogene 2005;24(54):8038-50.

APPENDIX A

CHAPTER 3 SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Analysis of Secreted PRX in Response to Shear Stress

In Chapter 3, we investigated the intracellular expression of all six peroxiredoxin family members. Our results showed that PRX 1 was induced by chronic laminar shear stress (LS), compared to oscillatory shear stress (OS) and static (ST) control. Further studies were conducted to assess whether extracellular PRX were also regulated by shear stress. As previously described, bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) were exposed to static culture, LS at 15 dynes/cm², or OS at ±5 dynes/cm² for 24 hours. Following experimental treatment, conditioned medium was collected from culture dishes. To prepare secreted proteins, this media was centrifuged at 1,000 x *g* for 10 minutes to remove cell debris, and the supernatant was concentrated via spin column (Vivaspin) at 4^{0} C. The protein content of each sample was determined by Bio-Rad DC assay, and immunoblots were performed as before for PRX 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6.

We were able to detect PRX 2, 4 and 6, but not PRX 1, 3 or 5, in concentrated media taken from BAEC. Levels of PRX 2 and 6 were significantly elevated in response to LS, while PRX 4 was unaffected by shear (Figure A.1). Previous studies have shown that PRX 4 contains a secretion signal peptide at its amino terminus and is secreted extracellularly¹. In contrast, PRX 2 and 6 are recognized as cytosolic proteins. The presence of PRX 2, 4, and 6 in conditioned media taken from static control cells supported the concept that these PRX are secreted from BAEC under basal conditions. In addition, the absence of PRX 1, 3, and 5 implied that not all cytosolic proteins are released. However, the suggestion that shear stress promotes increased secretion, independent of cellular damage, required further confirmation.

To address this concern, we probed conditioned media for the non-exporting proteins, actin and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Both actin and LDH were increased by LS,

despite modification to our cone-and-plate shear stress apparatus and the well-known protective effect of laminar shear stress on endothelial cells. As such, we were unable to exclude the possibility that PRX found in the conditioned media was a result of cell membrane damage during shear stress exposure (Figure A.1). However, it is most likely that a few senescent or weak endothelial cells are detached from the substrate by shear stress, and subsequently release actin and LDH into the media.



Figure A.1 PRX 2, 4, and 6 are present in conditioned media taken from BAEC. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 1 day, and the conditioned media was obtained. Equal aliquots of media (20 μ g of protein each) were analyzed by immunoblot using antibodies specific to PRX 1-6, actin, or LDH.

References

1. Matsumoto A, Okado A, Fujii T, Fujii J, Egashira M, Niikawa N, et al. Cloning of the peroxiredoxin gene family in rats and characterization of the fourth member. FEBS Lett 1999;443(3):246-50.

APPENDIX B

CHAPTER 4 SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Analysis of *Nrf2* mRNA in Response to Shear Stress

In Chapter 4, we investigated the antioxidant response element (ARE) as a potential mediator of laminar shear (LS)-induced *Prdx1* gene expression. Previous studies have found that the ARE is conserved amongst several mechanosensitive, cytoprotective genes and responds to chronic laminar shear stress through the transcription factor NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2)¹. However, the exact mechanism by which Nrf2 responds to shear stress remains controversial.

Transcription factor Nrf2, a basic leucine zipper protein (bZIP), activates the ARE and its downstream genes by binding to ARE consensus sequence. Under homeostatic conditions, the cytoskeleton binding protein Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) binds Nrf2 in the cytoplasm and targets it for degradation via the ubiquitin-proteasome system. However, when cells are exposed to stress, Nrf2 is released and travels to the nucleus, where it forms a heterodimer with another bZIP, Maf, and binds to the ARE¹⁻⁵. In human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC) and human microvascular endothelial cells, Chen et al. first showed that anti-sense Nrf2, dominant negative Nrf2, and overexpression of Keap1 could all block laminar flow-induced activation of ARE-mediated genes¹. Later work in both HAEC and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) corroborated these findings using Nrf2-specific siRNA^{4, 6, 7}. However, several discrepancies exist in these recent studies concerning the mechanism of regulation of Nrf2 by shear.

In 2005, Hosoya et al. reported that both LS and OS induce nuclear accumulation of Nrf2 in HAEC. Nonetheless, OS prevents Nrf2 binding to the ARE, and subsequent gene transcription, through an unknown nuclear factor⁴. On the other hand, Dai et al. showed in HUVEC that "atheroprotective" shear stress, compared to "atherprone" shear

stress, increased nuclear accumulation of Nrf2, but did not affect cytoplasmic protein levels. Using *en face* immunohistochemical staining, they found a similar Nrf2 expression pattern in atherosclerosis-resistant regions of the mouse aorta⁶. Finally, Warabi et al. established that intracellular protein levels of Nrf2 were markedly increased in HUVEC, although the mRNA levels of Nrf2 were unchanged. They demonstrated that shear stress stabilizes Nrf2 protein via an ROS-dependent pathway⁷.

To examine how LS might promote Prdx1 expression through Nrf2 in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC), we assessed Nrf2 gene expression in response to shear stress. Total RNA was collected from BAEC following static culture (ST), or 2, 4, 8 or 24 hours of LS (15dynes/cm²) or oscillatory shear stress (OS, ±5dynes/cm²). Quantitative, real time PCR was used to determine *Nrf2* mRNA copy number relative to the internal control 18S. As illustrated in Figure B.1, we found that Nrf2 expression increased in response to laminar shear stress after 8 hours and by 24 hours was significantly different from both ST and OS. Though this temporal pattern did not exactly match the regulation of *Prdx1* by LS, it did suggest that chronic LS regulates *Nrf2* gene in BAEC. As implied by work in other cell types, gene regulation of Nrf2 may not be the only mechanism for It is possible that LS stabilizes Nrf2 protein or affects the nuclear regulation. translocation of Nrf2. However, in conjunction with previous findings, our studies suggest that Nrf2 may be uniquely regulated by LS in endothelial cells of different origin and species. Similarly, the magnitude of shear stress and the in vitro model system employed could account for diverse experimental outcomes.



Figure B.1 Nrf2 mRNA is upregulated by LS compared to OS. Confluent BAEC were exposed to LS, OS or static conditions for 2, 4, 8, or 24h. Total RNA was collected and reverse-transcribed to synthesize first-strand cDNA, which was amplified via real-time, quantitative PCR. mRNA copy numbers were determined based on standard curves generated with bovine Nrf2 and 18S templates. Nrf2 mRNA copy numbers were normalized to 18S mRNA copy numbers. Nrf2 mRNA levels (mean <u>+</u> SEM, n=3-15) are shown in bar graphs as % of static control. * p<0.05 designate significance between indicated groups.

References

- 1. Chen XL, Varner SE, Rao AS, Grey JY, Thomas S, Cook CK, et al. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Biol Chem 2003;278(2):703-11.
- 2. Liu H, Colavitti R, Rovira II, Finkel T. Redox-Dependent Transcriptional Regulation. Circ Res 2005;97(10):967-974.
- 3. Chen XL, Kunsch C. Induction of cytoprotective genes through Nrf2/antioxidant response element pathway: a new therapeutic approach for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Curr Pharm Des 2004;10(8):879-91.
- 4. Hosoya T, Maruyama A, Kang M-I, Kawatani Y, Shibata T, Uchida K, et al. Differential Responses of the Nrf2-Keap1 System to Laminar and Oscillatory Shear Stresses in Endothelial Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2005;280(29):27244-27250.
- 5. Kim Y-J, Ahn J-Y, Liang P, Ip C, Zhang Y, Park Y-M. Human prx1 Gene Is a Target of Nrf2 and Is Up-regulated by Hypoxia/Reoxygenation: Implication to Tumor Biology. Cancer Res 2007;67(2):546-554.
- 6. Dai G, Vaughn S, Zhang Y, Wang ET, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical Forces in Atherosclerosis-Resistant Vascular Regions Regulate Endothelial Redox Balance via Phosphoinositol 3-Kinase/Akt-Dependent Activation of Nrf2. Circ Res 2007;101(7):723-733.
- 7. Warabi E, Takabe W, Minami T, Inoue K, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, et al. Shear stress stabilizes NF-E2-related factor 2 and induces antioxidant genes in endothelial cells: Role of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2007;42(2):260-269.

VITA

AMY LEIGH MOWBRAY

Amy Leigh Mowbray was born Amy Leigh Holbrook to Keith and Teresa Holbrook on January 28, 1980 in Kettering, Ohio. She spent her childhood in Beavercreek, Ohio, growing up with her sisters Betsy, Cady, and Audrey. After graduating from Beavercreek High School in 1998, Amy attended the University of Kentucky and studied chemical engineering. In 2002, she graduated with honors from UK and married Adam Andrew Mowbray. Amy worked for one year with Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals before beginning graduate school at the Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University in 2003. In her free time, Amy enjoys spending time with her husband and visiting family. She loves to travel, especially to the lake or the beach, read fictional literature, run in organized half marathons, and take dance or Pilates lessons.